
 
 

CEO PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW PANEL 
Agenda and Reports 

for the meeting on  

Monday, 3 March 2025 

at 3.00 pm 

in the Colonel Light Room, Adelaide Town Hall 

 
© 2025 City of Adelaide. All Rights Reserved. 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
CEO PERFORMANCE REVIEW PANEL 

Meeting Agenda, Monday, 3 March 2025, at 3.00 pm 
 
 
Membership The Lord Mayor 

The Deputy Lord Mayor 
1 Council Member 
2 External Independent Members 

Quorum 3 

Presiding Member The Right Honourable the Lord Mayor, Dr Jane Lomax-Smith 

Deputy Presiding 
Member 

Deputy Lord Mayor, Councillor Elliott 

Council Member Councillor Noon 

 

Independent Members Gael Fraser 

Jeff Tate 

 

Independent Advisor Andew Reed, Hender Consulting 

 

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 

  
1.   Acknowledgement of Country 

At the opening of the CEO Performance Review Panel meeting, the Chair will state: 

‘Council acknowledges that we are meeting on traditional Country of the Kaurna 
people of the Adelaide Plains and pays respect to Elders past and present.  We 
recognise and respect their cultural heritage, beliefs and relationship with the land. 
We acknowledge that they are of continuing importance to the Kaurna people living 
today. 
And we also extend that respect to other Aboriginal Language Groups and other First 
Nations who are present today.’ 

 

 
2.   Apologies and Leave of Absence 

Nil 

 

 
3.   Confirmation of Minutes 

That the Minutes of the meeting of the CEO Performance Review Panel held on 2 
December 2024, be taken as read and be confirmed as an accurate record of 
proceedings. 

View public 2 December 2024 Minutes here. 

 

 
4.   Items for Consideration and Determination    
 
 4.1   2025/25 Q2 KPI Progress Report 4 - 12 
 
 4.2   Remuneration Tribunal - update 13 - 48 
 
5.   Closure    

 

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=1010


 

CEO Performance Review Panel – Agenda - Monday, 3 March 2025 

 

Monday, 3 March 2025 
CEO Performance Review 
Panel 

2024/25 Q2 KPI Progress Report 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Corporation 

Program Contact:  
Chief Executive Officer 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Anthony Spartalis,                 
Chief Operating Officer 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report provides an update of progress against the endorsed 2024/25 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 
the Chief Executive Officer as at the end of December 2024. 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT THE CEO PERFORMANCE REVIEW PANEL RECOMMENDS TO COUNCIL 

THAT COUNCIL 

1. Receives and notes the KPI progress report, Attachment A to 4.1 on the Agenda for the meeting of the 
CEO Performance Review Panel held 3 March 2025, outlining progress against the Chief Executive 
Officer’s endorsed 2024/25 Key Performance Indicators. 

 

 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4.1



 
 

CEO Performance Review Panel – Agenda - Monday, 3 March 2025 

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

CEO Contract 
Strategic Alignment – Our Corporation  
Effective Leadership and Governance 

CEO Contract 
The Key Result Areas (KRAs) outlined are contained in the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
Position Description and as an attachment to the CEO’s employment agreement.  
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) will be reviewed annually and periodically. Council may 
alter the KPIs at its discretion following reasonable consultation with the CEO. 

Consultation Not as a result of this report 

24/25 Budget 
Allocation Not as a result of this report 

 

 

DISCUSSION 
 
1. At its meeting on 24 September 2024, Council endorsed the recommendations of the CEO Performance 

Review Panel of 16 September 2024 and resolved (in part) that Council: 

“2.      Approves that the Chief Executive Officer’s performance for the 2024/25 financial year will be 
assessed against: 

• the achievement of Key Performance Indicators aligned to the relevant Key Result Areas in the 
CEO Position Description as attached in the minutes of the CEO Performance Review Panel held 
on 16 September 2024, as Attachment A.  

• the outcomes of an appropriate 360-degree survey instrument, including Council Members, 
Senior Staff and external stakeholders.” 

2. The approved Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 2024/25 (Link 1) are 
aligned to the Key Result Areas (KRAs) in the CEO’s Position Description: 

2.1. Leadership and Strategic Plan Delivery 

2.2. Financial and Risk Management 

2.3. Operational and Project Delivery 

2.4. Organisational Health (including Innovation and Service Improvement) 

2.5. Stakeholder Management 

2.6. Lord Mayor and Councillors. 

3. The CEO has cascaded the KPIs with supporting measures to the Portfolio Directors as the basis for a 
consistent organisational approach to performance review at the Executive level. The CEO will assess the 
performance of the Executive group for the 2024/25 review period in accordance with the approved KPIs and 
where appropriate delivery against the adopted City of Adelaide Strategic Plan 2024-2028. 

4. In accordance with the approved process for the 2024/25 CEO Performance Review, the CEO has prepared 
an update of progress as at 31 December 2024 provided as Attachment A. 

5. This report is the second KPI progress report against the CEO’s endorsed 2024/25 KPIs. 

6. The progress report provides details of the status of delivery against the approved CEO KPIs, at the end of 
the 31 December 2024 quarter. 

 

 

Page 4

https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g947/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Sep-2024%2017.30%20Council.pdf?T=10


 
 

CEO Performance Review Panel – Agenda - Monday, 3 March 2025 

7. As at 31 December 2024 the following KPIs have been Completed: 

7.1. KPI 5 - Update the Council’s Long-Term Financial Plan including the assumptions and parameters – 
adopted by Council on 22 October 2024. (Link 2) 

8. As at 31 December 2024 the following KPIs have been significantly progressed: 

8.1. KPI 2 – Delivery of Council 2024/25 Business Plan and Budget: 

8.1.1. Quarter 1 Progress Report (Link 3) 

8.1.2. Quarter 2 Progress Report (Link 4)  

8.2. KPI 8b – Progress and implement an organisational structure review by December 2024 to enable the 
organisation to deliver on the Strategic Plan 2024-2028 outcomes and priorities based on a shared 
understanding of accountability and improved capacity across the organisation, including establishing 
measures of success. (Link 5)   

9. All other KPIs are in progress with notable progress against the following KPIs: 

9.1. KPI 1 – Implement Year 1 actions of adopted City of Adelaide Strategies (Link 6, Link 7, Link 8 and 
Link 9) 

9.2. KPI 3 – Develop an Integrated Transport Strategy. Council endorsed the Discussion Paper on 22 
October 2024 (Link 10).  The outcomes of Public Engagement (Stage 1) and Draft Strategy for Public 
Engagement (Stage 2) is due to be noted by the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee in March 
2025.  

9.3. KPI 6 – Deliver Council’s Major / New and Upgrade Works Program (Link 11)  

10. As at 31 December 2024, one KPI has been completed, two KPIs have been significantly progressed and 
nine KPIs are in progress. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Link 1 – Approved Chief Executive Officer Key Performance Indicators for 2024/25 

Link 2 – Adopted Long-Term Financial Plan  

Link 3 – Business Plan and Budget Quarter 1 Update 

Link 4 – Business Plan and Budget Quarter 2 Update 

Link 5 – Organisational Structure E-News issued 24 January 2025  

Link 6 – Economic Development Strategy progress update to 31 December 2024  

Link 7 – Integrated Climate Strategy progress update to 31 December 2024  

Link 8 – Housing Strategy progress update to 31 December 2024  

Link 9 – Homelessness Strategy progress update to 31 December 2024  

Link 10 – Integrated Transport Strategy Discussion Paper 

Link 11 – Deliver Council’s Major / New and Upgrade Works Program December 2024 Update  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Q2 Progress against the Chief Executive Officer’s endorsed 2024/25 Key Performance Indicators  

 

- END OF REPORT –  
 

 
 

Page 5

https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s22665/Attachment%20B%20-%20Adoption%20of%20the%20202425%20Long%20Term%20Financial%20Plan.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s23002/Attachment%20A%20for%20202425%20Business%20Plan%20Budget%20Quarter%201%20Update.pdf
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s24502/Recommendation%201%20-%20Item%207.1%20-%20Attachment%20A.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_5.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_6.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_7.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_8.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_9.pdf
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/g949/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Oct-2024%2018.00%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_11.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/g947/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Sep-2024%2017.30%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s22665/Attachment%20B%20-%20Adoption%20of%20the%20202425%20Long%20Term%20Financial%20Plan.pdf
https://meetings.cityofadelaide.com.au/documents/s23002/Attachment%20A%20for%20202425%20Business%20Plan%20Budget%20Quarter%201%20Update.pdf
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/s24502/Recommendation%201%20-%20Item%207.1%20-%20Attachment%20A.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_5.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_6.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_7.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_8.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_9.pdf
https://cityofadelaideintranet.moderngov.com.au/documents/g949/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Oct-2024%2018.00%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_KPI_Link_11.pdf


2024/25 – Chief Executive Officer KPIs 
 

 

CEO KPIs 2024/25 - Q2 Update                                                            Legend:  On track    At risk    Off track   Completed         
 Page 1 

Attachment A

KRA – LEADERSHIP AND STRATEGIC PLAN DELIVERY 

Responsibilities as per CEO Position Description KPIs Timeline Progress Status Portfolio 
Responsible 

• Working collaboratively with Council in the development, 
communication, and implementation of the Strategic Plan, 
and providing regular reporting to Council on progress 
against the Plan. 

• Managing the strategic planning process and assessing 
performance against the Strategic Plan. 
 
 

• Implement Year 1 Strategic Plan actions 
from adopted City of Adelaide Strategies 
o Economic Development (EDS) 
o Integrated Climate (ICS) 
o Housing 
o Homelessness 

 

30 June 2025 
 

 
 

In progress 
• City Plan – Adelaide 2036 endorsed by Council 10/9/2024. 
• Submission to the Greater Adelaide Regional Plan endorsed by 

Council 12/11/24. 
 
Economic Development Strategy 
• Economic Development Strategy endorsed by Council 

10/9/2024. 
• Rundle Mall Live Music program commenced 11/10/24. As at 

24/2/25 there have been 51 performances. 
• Adelaide:Your Guide to Our City of Music launched 4/11/24 with 

7,500 copies distributed across the CBD and inner metro area. 
 

Integrated Climate Strategy 
• Integrated Climate Strategy Reporting Framework to support the 

delivery and monitoring of the ICS noted by Council 8/10/2024. 
• 24/25 Sustainability Incentive Scheme fully allocated as at 

31/12/24 with 65 incentives approved. 
 
Housing Strategy 
• Site investigations and master planning options underway for 

former Bus Station site - 35% affordable housing. 
• Master Plan concept design commenced for 218-232 Flinders 

Street – 40% affordable housing. 
 
Homelessness Strategy 
• Continued support of temporary hub in Edwards Park (Park 23). 

Permit in place until 1/3/25. (New license for further six months 
approved by Council 13/2/24). 

• Major partner of Adelaide Zero Project since inception in 2018. 
Partnership with State Government and Australian Alliance 
commenced in 2021.  

 

City Shaping 
 
 

• Ensuring the development of annual business plans and 
budgets that support the delivery of the Strategic Plan. 
 

• Deliver all key objectives in Council’s 
2024/25 Business Plan and Budget 
➢ All key Objectives delivered by end June 

2025.  
➢ Budgeted operating result delivered. 

 
 

 
 

30 June 2025 
 
 

 
 

Significantly progressed 
 
• Q1 Progress Report approved by Council 26/11/24. 
• Q2 Progress Report approved by Council 25/2/25. 

- Operating Surplus $11.729m. 
- Capital Expenditure $37.529m. 
- Net Cash Surplus $20.999m. 
- Strategic Projects Completed – 2.  
- Capital Projects Completed – 50. 
 

Corporate 
Services 

P
age 6

A
ttachm

ent A



2024/25 – Chief Executive Officer KPIs 
 

 

  CEO KPIs 2024/25 – Q2 Update                                                              Legend:  On track    At risk    Off track   Completed         
 Page 2 
 

• Develop an Integrated Transport Strategy 
➢ Presented to Council by end April 2025. 

 
30 April 2025 

 

 In progress 
 
• Workshop to provide overview of development of proposed 

Strategy at Infrastructure and Public Works Committee 17/9/24. 
• Discussion paper documents for Stage 1 community and 

stakeholder engagement endorsed by Council 22/10/24. 
• Outcome of Public Engagement (Stage 1) and Draft Strategy for 

Public Engagement (Stage 2) to be presented to Infrastructure 
and Public Works Committee 18/3/25. 

City 
Infrastructure 
 
 

• Providing timely strategic advice and recommendations to 
Council on policy matters, issues and proposals affecting 
the future development and position of the City of 
Adelaide. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Deliver the Adaptive Re-use City Housing 
Initiative  
➢ Identification of building stock suitable 

for adaptive reuse by March 2025. 
➢ Strategic Plan target for adaptive reuse: 

“50 dwellings are delivered annually 
through adaptive reuse of underutilised 
buildings” 

 
  

 
 

31 March 2025 
 

 
 

In progress 
 
• Official Launch of ARCHI scheme 29/7/24. 
• 2024/25 ARCHI Incentive Grant funding $250,000. 
• ARCHI Incentive Scheme: 

- Enquiries = 21 
- Applications received = 3 
- Granting funding allocated $45,000 
- Dwellings delivered – 3 apartments / 4 beds.  

 

City Shaping 
 

  

P
age 7



2024/25 – Chief Executive Officer KPIs 
 

 

  CEO KPIs 2024/25 – Q2 Update                                                              Legend:  On track    At risk    Off track   Completed         
 Page 3 
 

KRA – FINANCIAL AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
Responsibilities as per CEO Position 
Description KPIs Timeline Progress Status Portfolio Responsible 

• Ensuring annual and long-term financial 
plans are developed, monitored, and 
controlled. 

• Developing and maintaining financial 
capability to enable the organisation to 
discharge its statutory functions and to 
realise human and capital resources for 
maximum benefit to the community. 

• Organising and managing funding 
requirements and account for the proper 
receipt of all monies. 

• Ensuring the appropriate governance and 
compliance frameworks are in place, 
particularly in terms of the Independent 
Commissioner Against Corruption Act 
2012. 

• Managing, maintaining, and maximising 
Council assets and resources. 

• Ensuring all commercial activities of 
Council are in line with community service 
obligations and have clearly defined 
financial goals (including rate of return on 
assets) whilst meeting Council’s 
sustainability objectives. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Update the Council’s Long-Term Financial 
Plan including the assumptions and 
parameters 
➢ Presented to Council by end October 

2024. 
 

 
 

 
 

31 October 2024 
 
 
 

 
 

Completed 
• Assumptions and parameters received and noted by 

Audit and Risk Committee Workshop 9/8/24. 
• Assumptions and parameters to develop 2024/25 Long 

Term Financial Plan approved by Council 27/8/24. 
• Draft 2024/25-2033/34 Long Term Financial Plan 

approved for public consultation by Council 24/9/24. 
• Draft 2024/2025 – 2033/34 Long Term Financial Plan and 

Draft 2024/25 CEO Financial Sustainability Report noted 
by Audit and Risk Committee 27/9/24. 

• 2024/2025 – 2033/34 Long Term Financial Plan adopted 
by Council 22/10/24. 
 

 
 

Corporate Services 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 8



2024/25 – Chief Executive Officer KPIs 
 

 

  CEO KPIs 2024/25 – Q2 Update                                                              Legend:  On track    At risk    Off track   Completed         
 Page 4 
 

RA – OPERATIONAL AND PROJECT DELIVERY 
Responsibilities as per 
CEO Position Description KPIs Timeline Progress Status Portfolio 

Responsible 
• Deliver Council’s Asset Renewal Works 

Program 
➢ Adopted by Council as part of the 

2024/25 Business Plan and Budget. 
 

  In progress 
 

• Adopted by Council 25/6/24       $56.022m. 
• Adopted by Council 25/2/25       $56.296m.  

 

City Infrastructure 
 

➢ Asset Renewal Funding Ratio of 
92.5%.  

The Asset Renewal Funding Ratio indicates 
whether Council is renewing or replacing 
existing assets at a rate of consumption. 

 

30 June 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
• The total spend for renewal projects to the end of December 2024 $19.975m with contracted 

expenditure of $10.978m. 
• 34 Renewal projects achieved practical completion as at 31 December 2024. 
• Forecast Asset Renewal Funding Ratio of 93.0% as at Q2.  
 

 

• Ensuring Capital Works 
projects and Asset 
Renewal programs and 
projects are on track and 
within committed 
budgets. 
 

• Deliver Council’s Major / New and 
Upgrade Works Program 
➢ Adopted by Council as part of the 

2024/25 Business Plan and Budget. 
 

    In progress 
 
• Adopted by Council 25/6/24       $56.809m. 
• Adopted by Council 26/11/24     $66.890m. 
• Adopted by Council 25/2/25        $64.747m. 
• The total spend for New and Significant Upgrade projects to the end of December 2024 was 

$17.553m with contracted expenditure of $5.786m. 
• 16 New and Significant Upgrade projects achieved practical completion as at 31 December 

2024. 
 

City Infrastructure 
 

 
  

P
age 9



2024/25 – Chief Executive Officer KPIs 
 

 

  CEO KPIs 2024/25 – Q2 Update                                                              Legend:  On track    At risk    Off track   Completed         
 Page 5 
 

  

KRA – ORGANISATIONAL HEALTH (Including Innovation and Service Improvement) 

Responsibilities as per CEO Position Description KPIs Timeline Progress Status Portfolio 
Responsible 

• Embracing and driving a culture that encourages 
employee engagement and promotes accountability, 
initiative, creativity, diversity, transparency, and the 
organisation’s values through coaching, mentoring and 
empowering direct reports, having performance 
conversations and ensuring an effective balance of 
people leadership and management competencies.  

• Measuring staff and customer engagement and 
experience along with financial and governance 
indicators. 

• Ensuring best practice human resource management 
strategies are implemented. 

• Ensuring the organisational structure and human 
resources remain relevant to the strategic goals of the 
organisation through effective recruitment, retention, 
and performance management strategies. 

• Ensuring an effective industrial relations system for all 
Council employees is in place and maintained, which 
is complaint with relevant legislation. 

• Ensuring processes and procedures are in place that 
maintain a workplace free from discrimination, bullying 
and harassment. 

• Driving a high level of innovation and continuous 
improvement initiatives are implemented and the 
benefit realised and measured. 
 
 

• Progress Organisational Culture Survey to 
establish an Employee Engagement baseline and 
develop an Organisational Culture Action Plan 
o Survey Conducted July 2024 
o Action planning commenced by October 2024 
o Regular reports back to staff on quarterly basis. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Progress and implement an organisational structure 
review by December 2024 to enable the organisation to 
deliver on the Strategic Plan 2024-2028 outcomes and 
priorities based on a shared understanding of 
accountability and improved capacity across the 
organisation, including establishing measures of 
success. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
• Monitor and improve employee measures by 10% using 

Q3 2023/24 results as a base 
Measures: 
o Attraction and Retention of Employees 

- Employee turnover (excluding casuals) to be 
<13% 
- Turnover of Employees with less than two 

years’ service to be <40 
o Employee participation in Performance and 

Development Conversations (PDC) process >88% 
o Employee participation in and completion of 

Mandatory Training 100%. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  In progress 
• Organisational Culture Survey launched 5/8/24 

and closed 30/8/24 with a participation rate of 
70%. 

• Overall Employee Engagement Score of 63% on 
par with benchmark. 

• Organisational Culture Survey Action Plan 2024-
2026 endorsed by the Chief Executive Officer 
24/2/25.  

• Pulse Check Survey scheduled for March 2025. 
 
 
Significantly progressed 
• Proposed structure advice to staff 21/10/24. 
• Three week Staff Consultation period from 9am 

Mon 21/10/24 - 9am Mon 11/11/24.  
• Consultation response finalised 20/11/24. 
• Recruitment for new roles commenced 21/11/24. 
• Revised Organisational Structure implemented 

6/1/25. 
• Appointments for Director City Community and 

Associate Director Governance and Strategy 
finalised and announced. 

• Nine nominations submitted for Local 
Government Professionals SA Excellence Awards 
February 2025. 

• Two nominations submitted for 2024/25 Local 
Government Association Mutual Scheme Awards. 

 
 
 
In progress 
• Turnover of 12.8% as at 31/12/24, same as for 

end of Q1 30/9/24 (excluding casuals). 
• 34 leavers (4.5%) with less than two years’ 

experience as at 31/12/24, compared to 35 as at 
30/9/24 (excluding casuals). 

• PDC participation rate 85.3% as at 31/12/24.  
• Employee completion of Mandatory Training 90% 

as at 31/12/24.  
 
 
 

Corporate 
Services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 10



2024/25 – Chief Executive Officer KPIs 
 

 

  CEO KPIs 2024/25 – Q2 Update                                                              Legend:  On track    At risk    Off track   Completed         
 Page 6 
 

KRA – STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT – LORD MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS 

Responsibilities as per CEO Position Description KPIs Timeline Progress Status Portfolio 
Responsible 

• Improve the customer experience for residents, 
businesses and city users  
➢ All key priorities delivered by end June 2025. 
➢ Using Q3 2023/24 results as baseline, seek 10% 

improvement 
 

 
30 June 2025 

  In progress 
 

Corporate 
Services 

• Engaging with a wide range of internal and external 
stakeholders within a complex political environment and 
across a broad organisational framework. 

• Promoting Council and its activities to the community. 
• Negotiating and achieving the resolution of major 

issues which affect the management, planning and 
development of the City. 

• Upholding a customer service culture and ensure that 
Council services meet customer needs. 

• Monitoring customer satisfaction levels on a regular 
basis and ensure public accountability.  

• Promoting relationships and liaising with external 
agencies including government at local, state and 
commonwealth level, the business community and 
resident groups. 

• Representing the City in an official capacity as 
required. 

• Ensuring that the City’s image and profile is prominent 
through effective promotion and representation to the 
public, media and other groups and agencies. 

• Ensuring timely and accurate information about 
Council policies and programs is regularly provided to 
the community and that appropriate mechanisms are 
created for community feedback to Council. 

• Ensuring prompt and appropriate responses are given 
to specific requests for information made to Council. 

• Facilitating and fostering productive internal and 
external relationships and partnerships necessary for 
Council to achieve its business and community goals. 

• Ensuring consultation is used effectively to enhance 
decision making by Council. 
 

Lord Mayor and Councillors 
• Providing Council and the Lord Mayor with the best 

contemporary strategic advice, based on but not 
limited to a sound assessment of risks and 
opportunities and limitations imposed by the law. 

• Working effectively with the Lord Mayor in their 
capacity as leader of, and official spokesperson for, 
the Council. 

• Providing timely information, advice and support to the 
Lord Mayor, Deputy Lord Mayor and Councillors. 

Measures: 
o Voice of Customer Surveys achieve a rating of 3.5 or 

higher 
▪ Customer Satisfaction six month average to 

be>52% - Revised target 58% 
▪ Customer Ease/Effort six month average to be 

>61% - Revised target 66% 
o Overall satisfaction with delivery of Council services 

>70% sources Baseline City User Profile (CUP Survey), 
Resident and Business surveys 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
• Improve the service experience for the Lord Mayor 

and Councillors  
➢ All key priorities delivered by end June 2025. 

 
Priorities: 
o Effective management of responses to Council 

Members and related constituent enquiries 
o Respond in a timely manner to CEO undertakings 

following Council and Committee meetings 
o Ensure responses to requests submitted by Council 

Members and logged in the FreshDesk system, are 
provided in accordance with agreed timeframes 

Proposed Measures: 
o 80% of decisions and CEO undertakings closed out 

within 12 months 
 
 

   
• Customer Satisfaction  

o Six month average to 31/12/24 62%.  
• Customer Ease/Effort 

o Six month average to 31/12/24 68%. 
 

 
• As per the 2023 City User Profile Survey, 12 of 13 

services’ satisfaction scores exceeded 70%. 
 

 
 
 
 

In progress 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
• 87.5% of Council Member queries submitted 

through Fresh Desk resolved within agreed 
timeframes. 
 

•  98% of Council decisions closed within 12 months 
as at 31/12/24. 

• 93% of CEO undertakings closed within 12 months 
as at 31/12/24. 

 

  

P
age 11



 

CEO Performance Review Panel – Agenda - Monday, 3 March 2025 

 

Monday, 3 March 2025 
CEO Performance Review 
Panel 

Remuneration Tribunal - update 
 

Strategic Alignment - Our Corporation 

Program Contact:  
Kathryn Goldy, Acting Manager 
Governance 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Anthony Spartalis, Chief 
Operating Officer 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The South Australian Remuneration Tribunal (the Tribunal) is currently reviewing Determination 4 (2023) relating to 
the minimum and maximum remuneration for Local Government Chief Executive Officers. 

The Tribunal has recently released a draft report titled “2024 Review of Minimum and Maximum Remuneration for 
Local Government Chief Executives Officers” (draft report). 

The City of Adelaide has an opportunity to comment on this draft report, with responses due to be received by the 
Tribunal no later than 12 March 2025.  

Along with the draft report, the Tribunal also issued a letter to all Local Government Councils of South Australia and 
a draft Determination, summarising at a high level the draft Determination, and requesting review and feedback on 
the draft. 

This report provides an opportunity for the CEO Performance Review Panel (the Panel) to review the draft report 
and consider if the Panel wishes to provide any feedback to the Tribunal as part of the feedback from 
Administration. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT THE CEO PERFORMANCE REVIEW PANEL 

1. Notes the South Australian Remuneration Tribunal draft report titled “2024 Review of Minimum and 
Maximum Remuneration for Local Government Chief Executives Officers” as per Attachment A to Item 4.2 
on the agenda for the CEO Performance Review Panel held on 3 March 2025. 

2. Notes that the Administration will be providing feedback to the South Australian Remuneration Tribunal draft 
report titled “2024 Review of Minimum and Maximum Remuneration for Local Government Chief Executives 
Officers”. 

3. Requests that the Administration incorporate the following points as part of the response to the South 
Australian Remuneration Tribunal: 

3.1__________________________________________ 

3.2__________________________________________ 

3.3__________________________________________ 

 
 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4.2



 
 

CEO Performance Review Panel – Agenda - Monday, 3 March 2025 

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

CEO Contract 

The draft report titled “2024 Review of Minimum and Maximum Remuneration for Local 
Government Chief Executives Officers”, states that the final determination will take effect 
from 1 January 2025.  
This may impact negotiations with the incumbent Chief Executive Officer around potential 
annual remuneration increases, depending on specific conditions in the existing contract. 

Consultation Not applicable 

24/25 Budget 
Allocation Not applicable  

 

 

DISCUSSION 
1. The South Australian Remuneration Tribunal (the Tribunal) has recently released a draft report titled “2024 

Review of Minimum and Maximum Remuneration for Local Government Chief Executives Officers” (draft 
report) (Attachment A). 

2. Along with the draft report, the Tribunal has also written a letter to all Local Government Councils of South 
Australia and provided a draft Determination. (Attachments B and C) 

3. The draft report has recently been released by the Tribunal, which is seeking feedback from Councils by 12 
March 2025. 

4. Following 12 March 2025, a binding Determination will be issued, and the Tribunal expects that this final 
Determination will take effect on 1 January 2025. This is consistent with the advice already provided to 
Councils. 

5. The City of Adelaide (CoA) provided input to the Tribunal’s review on 8 April 2024 (Link 1). The Lord Mayor, 
Dr Jane Lomax-Smith, and Acting Chief Operating Officer Anthony Spartalis met with Tribunal Chair 
Matthew Callahan on 24 June 2024, and consequently, supplementary information was provided by the Lord 
Mayor to the Tribunal on 20 July 2024 (Link 2).  

6. Administration is in broad agreement with the draft report, however, in Administration’s response to the 
Tribunal, the following feedback will be provided to the Tribunal for their consideration: 

6.1. More input was provided to the Tribunal on 8 April 2024 meeting relating to how CEO remuneration is 
set by the CoA, which is not acknowledged in the current draft report. The draft report currently states: 
“City of Adelaide supports the proposal to “engage a professional external remuneration specialist to 
undertake a detailed evaluation of the remuneration framework”.  

6.2. A meeting on 24 June 2024 occurred between the representatives from the Tribunal and the CoA. The 
CoA was represented by the Lord Mayor of Adelaide, Dr Jane Lomax-Smith, and Acting Chief 
Operating Officer, Anthony Spartalis. Following this meeting, further pertinent information was 
provided to the Tribunal: 

6.2.1. the current CEO position description; 

6.2.2. a benchmark assessment of the role against comparable regional centre, and capital city roles, 
conducted by Davidson (recruiting firm) in mid-2024 as part of the CEO recruitment process; 

6.2.3. a remuneration summary of most recent CoA CEOs; 

6.2.4. a suggested external consultant to undertake the independent expert review; 

6.2.5. a breakdown of CoA approach to CEO salary structuring; 

6.2.6. the Mercer review of the CEO role conducted in mid-2024. 

6.3. Administration will be seeking clarification regarding whether or not the costs of memberships of 
professional associations are considered salary components. The “Other fees and allowances” section 
of the Table at point 68 of the draft report includes “Value of perquisites provided to the CEO, i.e. 

Page 13

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_RemunerationTribunal_Link_1.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_RemunerationTribunal_Link_2.pdf


 
 

CEO Performance Review Panel – Agenda - Monday, 3 March 2025 

memberships”, which apparently contradicts the statement in point 70: “The Tribunal has not included 
professional development costs that directly relate to … membership of professional associations 
related to the performance of CEO functions in its assessment of remuneration”. 

6.4. The proposed reduction from $414,000 to $386,710 of the minimum CEO pay level in the 
remuneration band applied to the CoA (and the increase of the maximum from $431,600 to $458,557) 
creates potential attraction and retention issues, specifically: 

6.4.1. It exacerbates the non-competitiveness of CoA CEO remuneration in comparison with that in 
regional cities across Australia, and metropolitan Eastern seaboard Director-level positions (let 
alone CEOs of other Australian capital cities). For example: 

6.4.1.1. the regional cities of City of Newcastle, Mackay Regional Council, City of Greater 
Geelong and the Central Coast Council all pay their CEO between $450,000 – 
$500,000. 

6.4.1.2. City of Hobart and the City of Greater Bendigo (much smaller jurisdictions) both pay 
their CEO’s between $380,000 - $410,000, potentially more than CoA under the 
proposed band. 

6.4.1.3. The minimum payable to the CoA CEO is considerably lower than the maximum paid 
in the next lower band for other local government area CEOs, and its mid-point is only 
just higher than the next lower band’s maximum. 

6.4.2. It lowers the midpoint of the band payable to the CoA CEO to below the current level. This 
potentially disadvantages the incumbent in negotiating reasonable annual salary increases and 
signals diminished recognition of the incumbent’s value, creating a retention risk. 

7. Administration will recommend increasing the minimum remuneration payable in the band applied to the CoA 
(as well as the maximum) or at least maintaining it to mitigate the attraction and retention risks outlined 
above. 

8. Advice to this effect will be provided by the Administration to the Lord Mayor for consideration on behalf of 
Council in advance of the Tribunal’s deadline for feedback of 12 March 2025. 

9. This report provides an opportunity for the CEO Performance Review Panel to consider if they wish for any 
feedback to be provided to the Tribunal as part of the feedback from Administration. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 – CoA input to Tribunal Review (8 April 2024)  

Link 2 –CoA supplementary information provided to Tribunal (20 July 2024)   

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A - South Australian Remuneration Tribunal “2024 Review of Minimum and Maximum Remuneration 
for Local Government Chief Executives Officers” – draft report 

Attachment B - South Australian Remuneration Tribunal, letter to all Local Government Councils 

Attachment C - South Australian Remuneration Tribunal, draft Determination 

 
 

- END OF REPORT –  
 

 

Page 14

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_RemunerationTribunal_Link_1.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/CEO_PRP_3_March_2025_RemunerationTribunal_Link_2.pdf


 

Page 1 of 25 

 
No. X of 2024 

 

REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION TRIBUNAL 

2024 Review of Minimum and Maximum Remuneration for Local Government Chief 

Executive Officers 

INTRODUCTION  

1. In September 2021, section 99A of the Local Government Act 1999 (LG Act) came into effect. 

This section requires the Remuneration Tribunal (Tribunal) to determine the minimum and 

maximum remuneration payable to Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) of Councils. 

2. On 16 June 2023, the Remuneration Tribunal issued its inaugural Determination and Report 

of Local Government CEO minimum and maximum remuneration levels. Report 4 of 2023 

details the approach of the Tribunal at that time and the issues which led to the inaugural 

Determination. 

3. On 28 June 2024, the Tribunal issued a second Report and Determination in which it advised 

that it was undertaking a substantial review of the inaugural Determination, which it anticipated 

would be concluded by the end of 2024. As an interim step, the Tribunal provided a 2% 

increase to the maximum remuneration amounts. 

4. The Tribunal has been provided with a substantial amount of information, together with widely 

divergent submissions. 

5. In this Report the Tribunal has detailed its approach to this comprehensive review and 

explained the process and approach adopted to establish a series of bands which consider 

key Council characteristics. The Tribunal has taken the unusual step of issuing a draft 

Determination based on this Report and is providing the opportunity for comment on this until 

12 March 2025. That Determination, once finalised, will have effect from 1 January 2025.  

6. The Tribunal has adopted a framework for the grouping of Councils which is substantially 

based on total operating income as the primary indicator of CEO role complexity. Four other 

Council characteristics have been incorporated into this framework to recognise critical 

distinguishing factors between Councils (projected population growth, population dispersion, 

distance from Adelaide, socio-economic advantage / disadvantage). The framework provides 

for eight bands of Councils, with a separate category for the Adelaide City Council. Minimum 

and maximum remuneration levels have then been allocated to each band. 

 

Page 15

Attachment A



 

Page 2 of 25 

Table of Contents 

Topic Page 

Legislative Provisions 2 

The Inaugural Report 3 

Submissions  3 

Individual Council Applications 10 

The Tribunal’s approach to review 10 

What is included in the total remuneration 
package  

12 

Characteristics that differentiate Councils 16 

Remuneration Ranges  22 

Proposed Council groups 23 

Phased in compliance  24 

Frequency of Reviews 24 

Opportunity to Comment 24 

Next Steps for Councils 25 

Legislative Provisions 

7. Section 14 of the Remuneration Act 1990 (SA) (Act) provides that the Tribunal has jurisdiction 

to determine the remuneration, or a specified part of the remuneration, payable in respect of 

certain offices, if that jurisdiction is conferred upon the Tribunal by any other Act or by the 

Governor, by proclamation. 

8. Section 99A of the LG Act confers jurisdiction upon the Tribunal to determine the minimum and 

maximum remuneration that may be paid or provided to CEOs of Councils constituted under 

the LG Act. 

9. That jurisdiction is confined to the specification of minimum and maximum amounts only. It is 

not within the Tribunal’s jurisdiction to determine allowances in addition to the minimum and 

maximum remuneration amounts. It follows that the Tribunal must adopt a consistent approach 

to the definition of what is, and what is not, included within the definition of remuneration. This 

Report seeks to provide further clarity in this respect. 

10. Additionally, it is important that the Tribunal notes that section 147(5) of the Statutes 

Amendment (Local Government Review) Act 2021 (SA) is significant in that it refers to CEOs 

who were holding office at the commencement of the LG Act. 

11. This section states: 

“The remuneration of a chief executive officer holding office on the commencement 

of section 99A of the principal Act (as inserted by this Act) is not affected during the 

term of that office by a determination under section 99A.” 

12. The Tribunal has adopted the position that Councils who had contracts with their CEO in place 

prior to 20 September 2021, when the LG Act commenced, are not obligated to comply with 

the Tribunal’s determinations, to the extent to which these contracts may be inconsistent. The 

Tribunal has not sought to differentiate between Councils in this respect, given the stated object 

of the LG Act was that the Tribunal should set salaries for Council CEOs to provide assurances 

to communities that CEOs are paid appropriately for the work they do. 

Page 16



 

Page 3 of 25 

13. Any Council that is unsure about its obligations to comply with this Report and Determination, 

or the various components that constitute remuneration as provided for in this Report or 

Determination, should seek legal and/or tax advice. 

The Inaugural Report 

14. Information initially provided to the Tribunal in 2023 demonstrated widely divergent approaches 

to how remuneration was defined and assessed, and demonstrated significant and largely 

unexplained diversity between remuneration amounts for Councils. The inaugural 

Determination placed Councils in remuneration bands that were determined based on the data 

provided by Councils in relation to the total remuneration package of their CEO. The bandwidth 

for each band varied between $6,240 and $32,240. This inaugural Report identified significant 

differences in how Councils assessed and reported on CEO remuneration. The most significant 

differences related to how the value of motor vehicles, housing and additional leave 

entitlements were recognised. In the inaugural Report the Tribunal set out its approach to the 

definition and quantification of remuneration, which stated:  

“67. The Tribunal’s preference is to progress toward establishing minimum and 

maximum remuneration levels founded on an assessment of skill and competence 

levels. Such an approach would allow the flexibility to set remuneration consistent 

with the challenges confronting a given council. However, the limited information 

available to the Tribunal, combined with the very small number of submissions, 

simply does not support such an approach at this time. Councils are encouraged to 

make submissions about such an approach in the future.  

68. The Tribunal is not able to determine the minimum and maximum remuneration 

levels based on factors such as the geographical size of the council, revenue of the 

council and other factors as listed in paragraph 18 above. It considers these factors 

to be sensible criterion to guide any future determinations of the Tribunal, however, 

under the current legislation such an approach requires the cooperation of councils.  

69. For this inaugural review, the Tribunal has determined to group councils into 

eight bands. While these bands have some generally common characteristics, the 

Tribunal recognises differences and potential anomalies in terms of council 

characteristics within and between some of these bands. Each band is based on the 

data provided by councils in relation to the total remuneration package of their CEO. 

The Tribunal has then applied assumptions in relation to the value of the provision 

of a motor vehicle and any additional leave entitlements beyond that of usual 

administrative staff. This has resulted in a figure described as an “adjusted total 

remuneration package” for each CEO who is covered by this review.” 

15. In June 2024, the Tribunal issued Report and Determination 1 of 2024 which noted that a 

substantial review of the inaugural Determination was being undertaken and provided for a 2% 

increase to the maximum amounts. In that Report the Tribunal indicated its intention to 

complete this review by the end of 2024. 

Submissions 

16. Following the inaugural Determination the Tribunal received limited feedback from Councils 

about its approach. This went to concern about groupings and the extent to which individual 

Councils would seek reviews based on their circumstances. 

Page 17



 

Page 4 of 25 

17. The Tribunal met with the Local Government Association to discuss future approaches, 

including the costs associated with any review. The Tribunal notes that these costs are 

ultimately allocated to Councils by virtue of the LG Act.  

18. In February 2024, the Tribunal issued a brief consultation paper which identified options for 

comment and consideration by Local Government CEOs, Mayors, and elected members. 

Consistent with the requirements of section 10(2) of the Act, the Premier and the Minister for 

Local Government were also invited to make submissions in response to this paper.  

19. The Tribunal received 35 submissions in response to the consultation paper. The entities that 

made submissions are listed below. 

Council Submission 
made on 
behalf of 

Summary of issues raised 

Kangaroo Island Council  
 

Council  • Position description and small amount of 
information provided in relation to remuneration 
arrangements. 
 

District Council of Orroroo 
Carrieton 

CEO • Remote locality issues and access to essential 
services. 

• Considerations of size of the workforce. 

• Legislative responsibility is the same for all 
CEOs.  

• Support for individual expert review. 
 

Mayor, Wattle Range 
Council 

Individual • Suggested use of elected member bands and 
noted close alignment with McArthur 
Categories and Australian Council of Local 
Government classifications. 
 

City of Tea Tree Gully Council • Provided specific Council characteristics and 
complexities of the role.  

• Suggested use of elected member bands. 
  

Lower Eyre Council Council • Support for individual expert review. 

• Whilst it was not resolved by Council, some 
members wanted to raise concerns about the 
Tribunal inadvertently placing Council’s under 
financial pressure to provide a remuneration 
package they cannot afford and suggested 
another viable option may be to allow Council’s 
to determine remuneration for their CEO.  
 

Whyalla City Council Council • Supported an individual expert review. 

• Suggested use of elected member bands.  

• Proposed a more limited definition of 
remuneration with increased regional 
allowances.  

• Noted that the motor vehicle setting process 
needs to be clarified as well as the provision of 
accommodation.  

• Noted the salary for a temporary/interim/acting 
CEO has not been considered by the Tribunal.  
 

Page 18



 

Page 5 of 25 

City of Mount Gambier Council • Provided specific Council characteristics and 
complexities of the role.  

• Proposed use of a combination of elected 
member bands and the WA system.  

• Suggested further clarification of remuneration 
definitions. 
 

Administrator, District 
Council of Coober Pedy 

Administrator • Proposed an individual expert review with costs 

shared by the SA Government. 

• Requested better recognition of regional and 

remote locality issues, access to essential 

services including accommodation and cost of 

living issues, resourcing issues and additional 

responsibility for distribution of electricity and 

water supply. 

Naracoorte Lucindale 
Council 

Council • Suggested use of elected member bands 

and/or Australian Council of Local Government 

classifications and/or McArthur salary survey. 

• Utilise information already received by the 
Tribunal.  
 

Mayor, City of Marion Individual • Suggested use of WA model and elected 
member bands.  

• Considerations to geographic size, revenue, 
number of electors, diversity and complexity of 
CEO functions and duties. 

• Possible use of Local Government Association 
grouping approach to determine membership 
fees. 
 

Mayor, District Council of 
Yankalilla 

Individual • Supported an individual expert review. 

• Suggested use of elected member bands.  
 

Southern Mallee District 
Council 

CEO • General support for the Port Adelaide Enfield 
Council CEO submission.  
 

City of Charles Sturt CEO • Support for the Port Adelaide Enfield Council 

CEO submission.  

• Supported an individual expert review, with the 

cost shared on a scalable formula, rather than 

an equal basis.  

Copper Coast Council Council • Supported an independent expert review and/or 

use of elected member bands. 

• Proposed a more limited definition of 

remuneration increasing regional allowances 

and excluding Fringe Benefits Tax.  

The Rural City of Murray 
Bridge 

CEO and 
elected 
members 

• Proposed a more limited definition of 

remuneration with increased regional 

allowances, akin to WA model.  

Page 19



 

Page 6 of 25 

Manager, People and 
Culture, City of Port Lincoln 

Council • Supported an individual expert review. 

City of Port Adelaide 
Enfield 

CEO with 
support 
indicated by 
51 CEOs 

• No support for an independent expert review. 

• Support for the WA type approach linked to 

existing elected member bands and suggested 

banding approach in this regard.  

 

City of Adelaide Council • Support for an independent expert review.  
 

City of Campbelltown Council CEO 
performance 
management 
review Panel 
Chair 

• Support for an independent expert review. 

Mayor, City of Holdfast Bay Individual • Support for the WA type approach linked to 

existing elected member bands, with the 

opportunity to make submissions where unique 

factors exist.  

• There should be capacity for individual Councils 
to obtain reviews based on work value 
considerations.  
 

City of Playford Council • Supported equivalent banding between elected 

members and CEOs with remuneration levels 

assessed by a consultancy firm. 

• Future reviews should reflect the complexities 
of growing communities. 
 

City of Salisbury Council • Supported use of an independent expert review 

whereby consideration is given to 

categorisation similar to elected member 

bands, having regard to role, size, population, 

revenue, economic, social, demographic and 

regional factors.  

Barunga West Council Council • Supported consideration of elected member 

bands.  

• Supported use of an independent expert 

review, with the same entity engaged who 

developed the WA model.  

• Proposed a more limited definition of 

remuneration with increased use of regional 

allowances and excluding Fringe Benefits Tax.  

• Proposed a remoteness allowance.  

Mayor, District Council of 
Kimba 

Council  • Supported an individual expert review. 

• Suggested use of elected member bands.  

• Proposed a more limited definition of 
remuneration with increased regional 
allowances.  

• Noted that the motor vehicle setting process 
needs to be clarified as well as the provision of 
accommodation.  

Page 20



 

Page 7 of 25 

• Noted the salary for a temporary/interim/acting 
CEO has not been considered by the Tribunal. 
 

Wakefield Regional Council CEO • Suggested some variables may include 

rateable and type of properties, size of LGA, 

proximity to major urban centres, assets under 

management vs ability to raise rates, 

commercial operations, community facilities, 

lack of services.  

• With impacts on remuneration including 

security of tenure, length, complexity of role, 

organisational structure, physical location, 

vehicle and housing allowances, competition 

from other employment sectors, relevant 

experience required.  

Tatiara District Council Council • Supported use of an independent expert review 

and consideration of use of the elected member 

bands. 

 

Wudinna District Council CEO and 
Mayor  

• Supported consideration of elected member 

bands.  

• Supported use of an independent expert 

review, with the same entity engaged who 

developed the WA model.  

• Proposed a more limited definition of 

remuneration with increased use of regional 

allowances and excluding Fringe Benefits Tax.  

City of Onkaparinga Council CEO 
Performance 
Management 
Committee 

• Supported use of an independent expert review 
/ adoption of the WA model.  

• Supported use of the elected member bands.  

Coorong District Council Council • Supported the Port Adelaide Enfield Council 

CEO submission. 

• Supported adoption of the WA model linked to 

existing elected member bands. 

• Proposed increased flexibility for Councils to 

set CEO remuneration. 

Elected 
members 

• CEO remuneration should be a self-determining 

role of Councils.  

• Regional Councils need flexibility in package 

arrangements to compete against larger 

metropolitan Councils.   

The District Council of 
Ceduna 

CEO • Supported an individual expert review. 

• Suggested use of elected member bands.  

• Proposed a more limited definition of 
remuneration with increased regional 
allowances.  

Page 21



 

Page 8 of 25 

• Noted that the motor vehicle setting process 
needs to be clarified as well as the provision of 
accommodation.  

• Noted the salary for a temporary/interim/acting 
CEO has not been considered by the Tribunal. 

• Provided some Council characteristics.  
 

Yorke Peninsula Council Council • Information about current remuneration and 
position description provided. 
 

Mid-Murray Council Council • Proposed use of an independent expert review 

with consideration of the WA model and 

possible application of the elected member 

bands.  

• Any anomalies to be reviewed by exception. 

• Recommended the bands be indexed annually 

by an independent standard such as CPI with 

the opportunity to request exemptions based on 

individual circumstances or performance.  

• Reviews to then be considered on a 4-year 

cycle.  

 

The Corporation of the 
Town of Walkerville 

Council • Supported the use of an independent expert 
review.  

• Raised concerns about the effectiveness of the 
legislation and provided information about its 
recent recruitment process.  
 

District Council of Grant CEO and 
elected 
members 

• Supported use of the elected member bands 

consistent with the Port Adelaide Enfield 

Council CEO submission. 

• Noted that salary bands should be broader and 

overlapping.  

• Suggested the Tribunal be tasked with 

reviewing unfair contract clauses/conditions. 

• Proposed a more limited definition of 

remuneration with increased use of regional 

allowances and excluding Fringe Benefits Tax.   

City of Port Augusta  • CEO Remuneration information and position 
description provided. 
 

 

20. On 14 May 2024, the Tribunal met with Mark Withers (CEO City of Port Adelaide Enfield), Tony 

Harrison (CEO City of Marion) and Maree Wauchope (CEO Barunga West Council). The 

Tribunal also separately met with the following representatives from the Whyalla City Council, 

Mayor Phill Stone, Kathy Jarrett (Director Corporate), Grant Jennings (Manager Finance and 

Knowledge Management) and Sue King (Manager People and Culture). 

21. While there was broad support for a changed approach to setting minimum and maximum 

remuneration amounts, there was substantial diversity in the proposed approach. Very few 

Page 22



 

Page 9 of 25 

submissions addressed current remuneration arrangements as distinct from proposing a broad 

approach.  

22. The submissions indicated little support for consideration of Councils on an individual basis.  

23. There was substantial support for the Tribunal’s proposition that it could engage a specialist 

remuneration advisor to review individual CEO roles and provide advice to the Tribunal. Some 

concerns about the cost associated with this approach were noted. 

24. Council submissions referred the Tribunal to various approaches, including the Western 

Australian approach and the current groupings for Local Government elected members. 

25. Despite a request to this effect, less than a third of the Councils provided their CEO’s position 

description. 

26. A group submission made by the Port Adelaide Enfield CEO, supported by a significant number 

of Council CEOs, proposed an approach, broadly modelled on the Western Australian system, 

which reflected “market rates” and recognised regional issues, provided for 7 bands with 

substantial differences between the minimum and maximum amounts in each band. 

27. The Tribunal has also accessed and considered substantial data about the characteristics and 

attributes of Councils. This data includes the following information: 

• ACLG Codes and Council in Focus groups 

• Council total operating income   

• Council staff size 

• Council areas 

• Council locations, including distance from Adelaide 

• Population density 

• Population dispersion 

• Council growth projections and histories 

• Socio-Economic indexes for Councils (based on Australian Bureau of Statistics 

data) 

28. The Tribunal has consulted directly with 21 Mayors about how CEO performance and 

remuneration issues are addressed. The information these Mayors provided, together with the 

submissions, disclose a reasonable degree of consistency of approach to remuneration setting 

processes. This process consistency contrasts sharply with the significant differences in 

remuneration amounts for similar Councils, which were noted in the Tribunal’s inaugural 

Report.  

29. The Tribunal noted that Councils utilise external advisors to assist them, or a sub-committee 

of the Council, in reviewing CEO performance. On the premise that the Council is satisfied with 

that performance, the external advisor then commonly provides advice about comparable 

remuneration or remuneration increases. This advice typically proposes increases aligned with 

the Council’s general enterprise agreement, whilst noting remuneration ranges of Councils 

based on the external advisor’s knowledge of other Councils. In this regard, the comparisons 

may not relate to objectively determined groups of Councils. This approach has resulted in 

substantial intermittent remuneration adjustments. The approach to setting a remuneration 

level when a new CEO is appointed is highly variable, with some Councils bringing in new, and 

less experienced CEO’s at substantially lower remuneration rates than their predecessors, with 

the expectation that rates for these CEOs will increase significantly as their performance 

develops. Many of the Mayors with whom the Tribunal consulted advised that they relied 

Page 23



 

Page 10 of 25 

heavily on the bands set by the Tribunal as a guide to reviewing CEO remuneration. The 

Tribunal noted substantially different approaches to remuneration in predominantly rural areas 

and in areas where there has been a long serving CEO. 

Individual Council applications for increased maximum remuneration amounts 

30. On 9 July 2024, the Tribunal received an application and submission from the Principal 

Administrator of the District Council of Coober Pedy, for an increase in the maximum amount 

of remuneration it could pay to recruit a new CEO. This application followed multiple 

unsuccessful recruitment attempts. The Tribunal addressed this application in its Report 4 of 

2024. 

31. During the consultations with Mayors, another Council foreshadowed an application to increase 

the maximum amount payable to attract an appropriate candidate. This Council did not 

subsequently formally pursue this request, and the Tribunal was advised that a suitable 

applicant had been selected within the existing bands. 

32. On 11 September 2024, the City of Holdfast Bay applied to have the maximum amount it could 

pay to a new CEO increased. While the City of Holdfast Bay subsequently advised that it 

received a range of applications, and the Tribunal has noted that an appointment has been 

made, the City of Holdfast Bay maintained its request to have the maximum amount increased. 

This application was addressed by the Tribunal in its Report 18 of 2024 where the Tribunal 

declined to make an individual Council Determination and advised that the City of Holdfast Bay 

position would be considered as part of this broader review.  

33. The Tribunal has reviewed each of these Councils as part of this broader review. 

The Tribunal’s approach to reviewing minimum and maximum amounts 

34. Consistent with its inaugural Report, the Tribunal considers that a more sustainable longer-

term approach is necessary. Notwithstanding all the information which the Tribunal now has, it 

remains aware that some Councils have not provided submissions, that most of the Councils 

have not provided position descriptions and that a significant proportion of the submissions 

note unique characteristics of their Council.  

35. It is also clear to the Tribunal that at least some Councils may have misunderstood the 

definition of remuneration and particularly, motor vehicle costing approaches and that some 

elected members, and possibly some CEO’s may benefit from clarification of the principles 

being applied by the Tribunal. The Tribunal has provided additional clarification later in this 

Report. 

36. The Tribunal acknowledges at the outset that the nature of its jurisdiction is inherently limited 

to the specification of minimum and maximum remuneration. It is not within the Tribunal’s 

jurisdiction to determine allowances in addition to the minimum and maximum remuneration 

amounts. Accordingly, the Tribunal has reviewed an array of factors that are commonly 

considered in establishing remuneration levels. These range from regional attraction and 

retention components of remuneration to the recognition of the many functions undertaken by 

Local Governments that are outside of traditional expectations. 

37. The Tribunal has adopted an approach whereby it seeks to achieve the following broad 

objectives: 

Page 24



 

Page 11 of 25 

• Minimum and maximum remuneration amounts need to reflect the complexity of 

roles and responsibilities necessary to allow Councils to recruit and retain 

appropriately skilled and qualified CEOs. 

• Remuneration minimums and maximums must provide a significant degree of 

assurance to Council ratepayers, that their CEO is being equitably remunerated. 

• The minimum and maximum remuneration amounts need to provide an 

appropriate degree of guidance to elected members to assist them in setting and 

reviewing CEO remuneration. 

• Any system of setting minimum and maximum remuneration must be capable of 

simple and low-cost revision to facilitate regular review. 

38. The Tribunal has reviewed possible approaches against these broad objectives. The significant 

diversity of remuneration levels noted in the inaugural Report means that some Councils with 

similar characteristics pay their CEOs quite different remuneration, while some CEOs are paid 

similar remuneration despite working for Councils with substantially different characteristics. 

39. The information available to the Tribunal confirms that the capability and performance of both 

elected members and CEOs impacts on remuneration considerations. However, recognition of 

performance issues is the prerogative of elected members and, if necessary, the State 

Government. Councils have the capacity to take account of CEO performance issues when 

setting remuneration between the minimum and maximum amounts set by the Tribunal. 

40. The Tribunal does not consider a system whereby individual Council’s apply to the Tribunal to 

review and set CEO remuneration is sustainable. Such a system would be administratively 

cumbersome and could create perceived or actual remuneration discrepancies between 

Councils. 

41. A common argument was that the grouping arrangement traditionally applied by the Tribunal 

to assess elected member allowances should have been used as the basis for the grouping of 

CEO remuneration. These propositions similarly fail to meet the Tribunal’s broad objectives. In 

its Report 2 of 2022, the Tribunal expressed reservations about the current groupings and 

invited Local Government to consider alternative approaches. The current groupings have their 

genesis in very dated population comparisons. If these same groupings were applied to CEOs, 

they would create significant anomalies and fail to recognise other characteristics of Councils 

relevant to the role complexity of CEOs. Furthermore, the gap between minimum and 

maximum remuneration levels would likely be so substantial that the objectives of providing 

assurances to Council ratepayers and guidance to elected members would not be met. 

42. The Tribunal also considered use of the Australian Classification of Local Government (ACLG) 

categories, determined by the Australian Bureau of Statistics, as the basis for setting 

remuneration. The ACLG categories are based on population and population density and result 

in 16 categories for South Australian Councils. The Tribunal was not satisfied that the factors 

included in this system properly characterised CEO functions and, in any event, using such a 

system led to unsustainably large and inconsistent remuneration groupings. 

43. The Tribunal has reviewed the Western Australian system of specifying minimum and 

maximum remuneration levels. This approach was considered in the development of the LG 

Act. That Western Australian system has now been in operation for many years and was initially 

established following a comprehensive review of each then current CEO job role. Of more 

recent times the number of groups of Councils has been reduced by regulation. Western 

Australia also has a longstanding and relatively consistent approach to the recognition of 

regional locations across public and many private sector occupational groups. There is no 

Page 25



 

Page 12 of 25 

equivalent mechanism in South Australia. The Western Australian local government structures 

are significantly different to the South Australian structures in that there are many more smaller 

Councils. Finally, the adoption of the Western Australian approach would result in gaps 

between minimum and maximum remuneration amounts that are so substantial that they would 

also fail to meet the objectives of providing assurances to local communities and guidance to 

elected members. 

44. The approach suggested by the significant group of CEOs also results in such a gap between 

minimum and maximum remuneration amounts that it fails to meet the Tribunal’s objectives. 

Additionally, the Tribunal is not satisfied that such an approach would be sustainable on a long-

term basis, particularly given the reservations it expressed in 2023.  

45. The Tribunal considered engaging a remuneration specialist to consult individually with each 

Council to assess appropriate remuneration arrangements. It has decided such an approach 

would be both time consuming, and unnecessary given the substantial material already 

available to compare Councils. Such an approach would also impose a significant additional 

cost burden on the Local Government sector and would have the potential to become obsolete 

quickly.  

46. The Tribunal has adopted an approach which takes account of key Council characteristics that 

impact on the complexity of the role. These characteristics need to have appropriate weightings 

attached to them. The overall approach must be consistent with common remuneration setting 

processes applied to public and private sector organisations. 

47. A specialist remuneration advisory firm, Mercer Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd (Mercer), was 

engaged to assist the Tribunal in ensuring the integrity and consistency of the component parts 

of remuneration considerations, and to facilitate a process by which the Tribunal could assess 

and weight the characteristics of Councils considered relevant to remuneration.  

48. The brief given to Mercer had two broad components. Firstly, Mercer was asked to review the 

Tribunal’s approach to, and definition of total remuneration package components, to provide 

maximum assistance to Councils and ensure a consistent and equitable approach to 

establishing minimum and maximum remuneration levels, in accordance with the direction on 

the total remuneration spread being provided to Mercer by the Tribunal.  

49. Secondly, Mercer was asked to assist the Tribunal in developing bands or groups of Councils 

within a framework comprising of minimum and maximum remuneration levels determined by 

the Tribunal. For the avoidance of doubt, Mercer was not engaged to undertake an individual 

review of each Council, which would have had a significant cost associated with it.  

50. In selecting the appropriate remuneration advisor, the Tribunal complied with the South 

Australian Government contracting approach. Additionally, because of the potential for any 

acknowledged expert in this field to be associated in some way with Local Government, the 

Tribunal received advice and guidance about its contracting processes from a probity advisor 

and has ensured that Mercer has undertaken this function in a manner which is separate from 

the remuneration advice that it may provide to Councils. It is appropriate that the Tribunal notes 

the Mercer contribution with thanks. 

What is included in the Total Remuneration Package  

51. In its inaugural Report the Tribunal stated the following:  

“44. In determining what constitutes remuneration, the Tribunal has considered the following 

components:  

Page 26



 

Page 13 of 25 

• Monetary remuneration  

• Superannuation, including the statutory minimum employer contributions, any salary sacrifice 

component and any additional payments made by a council  

• Annual leave loading  

• Additional leave entitlements  

• Bonuses and performance incentives - in cash or otherwise  

• The private benefit value of any motor vehicle and/or equipment (excluding mobile telephones 

and portable computing equipment provided to the CEO by the council)  

• School or childcare fees, including school uniforms  

• Newspaper/magazine/online subscriptions  

• Personal travel or any other benefit taken in lieu of salary by the CEO (and immediate family 

at the discretion of the council)  

• Health insurance  

• Any and all allowances  

• Any other form of payment - cash or otherwise  

• Any Fringe Benefits Tax paid by council in respect of any of the above.” 

52. While the Tribunal is satisfied that the inclusion of these components is consistent with 

commonly applied remuneration definitions, it has reviewed these considerations as part of this 

Report. 

53. The consultations with Councils disclosed a degree of confusion on the part of some Councils 

about how certain components should be costed.  

54. The Tribunal has reviewed remuneration approaches through the survey information available 

from its 2022/23 CEO survey. Mercer has provided additional guidance on these issues, which 

has been, with the exception of housing and accommodation, generally accepted by the 

Tribunal. Consequently, the Tribunal confirms the following approaches to matters included 

within the concept of a total remuneration package, which it is satisfied reflect common public 

and private sector practices. 

Motor Vehicles  

55. The Tribunal notes that Councils may approve the provision of a motor vehicle to a CEO as 

part of the CEO’s remuneration package, as a tool of trade or offer a motor vehicle allowance 

by way of additional remuneration. 

56. The Tribunal obtained advice from Mercer on the inclusion of motor vehicles in a CEO’s 

remuneration package. The Tribunal noted that a combination of accounting and remuneration 

packaging approaches are applied by Councils and concluded that, because of the diversity of 

vehicle cost assessments, and private use components, it is not possible to establish a 

common benefit value that can notionally be attached to the provision of a vehicle. 

57. Having considered Mercer’s advice, the Tribunal is of the view that if a motor vehicle is provided 

as part of the remuneration package, determining a benefit value depends on the type and cost 

of vehicle, and the extent of personal use of the vehicle along with other assumptions. The 

provision of the vehicle will be subject to Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT). The benefit value of the 

Page 27



 

Page 14 of 25 

vehicle and FBT attributable to the personal use of the vehicle and all other monetary 

components and allowances in lieu of provision of a motor vehicle, other than as a tool of trade, 

must be included in the CEO’s total remuneration and must not cause the CEO’s total 

remuneration package to exceed the maximum of the remuneration range of the relevant band. 

Councils are responsible for complying with the requirements of the Australian Taxation Office 

(ATO) in relation to the calculation of the benefit and FBT, using any of the ATO approved 

methods. If a motor vehicle is provided as a tool of trade, no FBT is payable. 

58. Further, a cash equivalent allowance in lieu of a motor vehicle will form part of the total 

remuneration package and form part of the CEO’s total remuneration. 

59. The Tribunal has not detailed the different approaches to motor vehicle costings adopted by 

the ATO as these are readily available to Councils. However, the Tribunal strongly 

recommends that Councils recognise that any benefit, relating to a motor vehicle, including the 

associated FBT, is included in, and not separate from, the CEO’s total remuneration package.  

Housing and Accommodation 

60. The information available to the Tribunal confirms that Councils may offer housing or 

accommodation, or a housing allowance to a CEO to attract and/or retain that CEO or where 

suitable housing is not available. 

61. The Tribunal acknowledges that the provision of housing in designated remote areas is exempt 

from FBT under the Fringe Benefit Tax Assessment Act 1986 (Cth) and that the ATO is 

currently reviewing the relevant definitions and that the cost of Council owned housing is 

variable. 

62. Mercer recommended that the provision of housing/accommodation or a housing allowance in 

a remote location not be included in the definition of remuneration. The Tribunal has not 

accepted this recommendation because it is concerned that such an approach creates 

potential substantial inequities, depending on the definition of remoteness for FBT purposes. 

Additionally, the Tribunal is concerned that the exclusion of housing provision or allowances 

from the definition of a total remuneration package, effectively invites its inclusion in areas 

where this is not currently applicable or required, with consequent cost implications for the 

Councils concerned. However, as explained later in this Report, the Tribunal has recognised 

locational remoteness as a factor in setting minimum and maximum remuneration bands. 

63. This means that the cost of housing or accommodation, or an allowance for housing is a 

component of remuneration and should be recognised as such. The determination of the 

amount to be included in the total remuneration of the CEO is the amount that would be used 

to calculate the FBT payable (whether FBT is payable or not per ATO Remote Area definitions). 

The application of FBT is then a matter which is dependent on whether the relevant town or 

city is exempted from FBT by the ATO.  

Superannuation 

64. There are multiple different superannuation arrangements adopted for Local Government 

CEOs. These include accumulation-based schemes and defined benefit funds, with varying 

employee contributions. The Tribunal has adopted the position that, irrespective of whether the 

scheme is an accumulation or a defined benefit fund, the standard position is that 

superannuation costs should reflect the minimum employer contribution, which is currently 

11.5%. If a Council contributes in excess of the minimum employer contribution amount, the 

superannuation component should be increased accordingly. 

Page 28



 

Page 15 of 25 

Annual Leave of more than 4 weeks per annum 

65. Two discrete arrangements for additional annual leave have been considered by the Tribunal.  

66. Arrangements for purchased additional leave, whereby the additional leave is funded by 

additional working hours or through a reduction in weekly or monthly pay, do not represent an 

additional benefit.  

67. In contrast, the Tribunal is aware of arrangements for CEOs where annual leave of more than 

four weeks per year is part of the remuneration package without any reduction in remuneration. 

This circumstance represents an additional cost impost on a Council so that the amount of 

leave in addition to four weeks needs to be added to the annual total remuneration package 

amount. The Tribunal is of the view that where additional leave is granted to remotely based 

CEOs to enable them to travel or return to their hometown or city without unduly impinging on 

the annual leave entitlement, this additional leave grant should not be included in the 

calculation of total remuneration. 

Remuneration Definitions 

68. The Tribunal has adopted the following definitions of remuneration components for inclusion in 

the Determination accompanying this Report:  

Component  Definition  

Monetary remuneration  Base salary (cash component).  
 

Superannuation  Includes the statutory minimum employer contributions, any salary 
sacrifice component, and any additional payments made by a 
Council.  
 

Annual Leave Loading  As defined in the relevant employment contract. 
 

Additional Leave Entitlements  Dollar value of additional leave provided over and above statutory 
entitlement, except where this is provided to allow remotely based 
CEOs to travel to their hometown or capital city to commence / 
return from leave. 
 

Bonuses  Dollar value of any bonuses or performance incentives, whether 
received in cash or kind.  
 

Motor Vehicle  The value of the cash allowance or the private benefit value of the 
motor vehicle to the CEO using either the Prime Cost 
(depreciation), Operating Cost, or Statutory Formula in 
accordance with the ATO rules.  
 
Must include FBT payable by the CEO. 
  
Refer to: https://www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-
benefits-tax-car-calculator  
 

Housing Allowance  The dollar value of any housing allowance or rental subsidy and 
associated FBT. Consistent with the ATO remote area FBT 
requirements. 
 
Note, designated remote areas are exempt from FBT – refer to:  
 

Page 29

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/r04/___https:/www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-benefits-tax-car-calculator___.Y3A0YTpiZWhpbmRjbG9zZWRkb29yczpjOm86NWFhYTI1MjM5Nzc5ZTUxNTBhNDJlOTMyYjQzOWU5OTE6NzoxNTRlOmJkYTNmNzMxZWJkYzE5NWQxYTdjNmEzYWZiMDg0ODQzYjY3YmEyOTQxODk5ZTg2ZGE4ZjEyZWE0ZTA1YTc4MzQ6cDpUOk4
https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/r04/___https:/www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-benefits-tax-car-calculator___.Y3A0YTpiZWhpbmRjbG9zZWRkb29yczpjOm86NWFhYTI1MjM5Nzc5ZTUxNTBhNDJlOTMyYjQzOWU5OTE6NzoxNTRlOmJkYTNmNzMxZWJkYzE5NWQxYTdjNmEzYWZiMDg0ODQzYjY3YmEyOTQxODk5ZTg2ZGE4ZjEyZWE0ZTA1YTc4MzQ6cDpUOk4


 

Page 16 of 25 

https://www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-
add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186 
  

Other Fees and Allowances  Includes, but not limited to, any or all of the following:  

• School or childcare fees, including school uniforms  

• Newspaper/magazine/online subscriptions  

• Value of perquisites provided to the CEO i.e.  
memberships  

• Personal travel or any other benefit taken in lieu of salary 
by the CEO (and immediate family at the discretion of the 
council)  

• Health insurance  

• Any and all other allowances  

• Any other form of payment - cash or otherwise  

• Any Fringe Benefits Tax paid by council in respect of any 
of the above  
 

Total Remuneration Package 
(TRP)  

The total of all the above components.  

69. Consistent with the approach taken in the inaugural Report, the Tribunal has concluded that 

mobile telephones and portable computing equipment provided to CEOs, fundamentally for 

work purposes, but which may be used for reasonable personal use, should not be regarded 

as remuneration for these purposes. The Tribunal considers that these items are inherent 

requirements for a CEO function and, in any event, any additional reasonable use represents 

a minimal additional cost such that separating personal and business use involves 

unreasonable administrative costs.  

70. The Tribunal has not included professional development costs that directly relate to the 

performance of CEO duties and membership of professional associations related to the 

performance of CEO functions in its assessment of remuneration.  

71. The Tribunal has not included one-off payments that relate directly and solely to relocation 

expenses in its consideration of remuneration. 

Characteristics of Councils that differentiate between Council CEOs 

72. To develop its approach to grouping and comparing Councils, the Tribunal has received 

substantial assistance from Mercer to ensure that its consideration of Council characteristics 

properly relate to expectations of CEOs. This analysis of Council characteristics that relate to 

the demands on CEOs has been conducted in two stages. The initial stage involved a 

comparison of the characteristics considered relevant to the complexity of the CEO role to 

establish a framework for consideration of Councils. The second stage has involved identifying 

appropriate minimum and maximum remuneration amounts. 

73. As was the case in its inaugural Determination, the Tribunal has not included Roxby Downs 

Council in this review. This is because Roxby Downs Council operates under an indenture 

agreement and has an entirely different funding and operating base to every other Council. 

74. In consultation with Mercer, the Tribunal considered all the available data about Council 

characteristics. It then selected the following primary and modifying criteria:  

 

Page 30

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/r04/___https:/www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186___.Y3A0YTpiZWhpbmRjbG9zZWRkb29yczpjOm86NWFhYTI1MjM5Nzc5ZTUxNTBhNDJlOTMyYjQzOWU5OTE6NzphMjA1OjljY2Q0MDMyYWE2ODliN2MzNmEwM2FmYzBlYTVlZTNjZjNjMjEzNjQxMWNiMTUzMGU0OTJhNzBmY2M3ZDYzNTM6cDpUOk4
https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/r04/___https:/www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186___.Y3A0YTpiZWhpbmRjbG9zZWRkb29yczpjOm86NWFhYTI1MjM5Nzc5ZTUxNTBhNDJlOTMyYjQzOWU5OTE6NzphMjA1OjljY2Q0MDMyYWE2ODliN2MzNmEwM2FmYzBlYTVlZTNjZjNjMjEzNjQxMWNiMTUzMGU0OTJhNzBmY2M3ZDYzNTM6cDpUOk4


 

Page 17 of 25 

 

75. The Tribunal has adopted the position that the single most significant characteristic of Councils 

that impacts on the CEO roles is total operating income (as defined in reports periodically 

issued by the SA Local Government Grants Commission) as described in the above table. 

There is a close correlation between total operating income and staffing numbers and close 

CRITERIA  KEY MEASURE  (SOURCE) RATIONALE 

PRIMARY 
CRITERIA 

Revenue   Total operating income (Source: 
Council’s Financial Statements) 

Total operating income - General Rates; Other 
Rates; Other Charges; Mandatory and 
Discretionary Rebates & Remissions and Write-
offs; Total Rates; Statutory Charges; User 
Charges; Grants, Subsidies and Contributions; 
Investment Income; Reimbursements; Other 
Income; Share of Profit - Joint Ventures & 
Associates. Reflects the scale and complexity of 
operations on an ongoing basis.  

M
O

D
IF

Y
IN

G
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

Projected 
population 

grown 

Annualised population growth based 

on data from 2021 to 2031 (Source: 

SA Department for Trade and 

Investment) 

Adopting both a historical and projected view 
over a 10 year period smooths out/reduces any 
potential projection anomalies/errors. 
Any significant infrastructure and service 
delivery impacts on Council as a result of 
projected population growth would tend to be 
based on a longer term planning horizon.  This 
measure picks up the complexities associated 
with future planning and infrastructure 
development that is not captured in the total 
operating income of Council or the other 
modifying criteria.   

Population 
Dispersion 

Population dispersion based on 

estimated average distance (in 

kilometres) between each person in 

the council area and the centre of 

population for the region (Source: 

Keystone Data) 

Population dispersion considers both population 
and geography. It reflects the travel demands 
placed on Chief Executives in geographically 
dispersed councils that is not captured by total 
operating income, or the other modifying 
criteria. It also acts as a proxy for a travel 
allowance. 

Distance from 
Adelaide 

Distance of primary council location 

from Adelaide (Source: SA 

Remuneration Tribunal) 

Recognises the need to travel to access services 
not available within the council area (e.g. 
medical and education) which, while not directly 
impacting the complexity of the CEO role, 
creates greater distance and travelling 
challenges for CEOs in rural and remote areas. 

Socio-
economic 

Advantage / 
Disadvantage 

SEIFA index of relative socio-economic 

disadvantage, decile (Source: ABS) 

SEIFA is a commonly used measure to assess the 
socio-economic status of an area and accounts 
for differences in complexities of councils with 
different levels of socio-economic 
advantage/disadvantage. Council areas with a 
lower decile are considered more complex. 

Page 31



 

Page 18 of 25 

links between recognition of significant additional functions undertaken by some Councils 

beyond the normal range of Council activities. In short, as operating income increases, so too 

does the overall complexity of the CEO role.  

76. The Tribunal has utilised the SA Local Government Grants Commission’s total operating 

income data for the 2022/2023 financial year as the latest available data. 

77. The Tribunal’s initial assessments excluded Adelaide City Council and involved the allocation 

of each Council to one of eight bands based on the total operating income ranges shown below. 

Category Upper  Lower 

1  $210M  $140M  

2  $140M  $76M  

3  $76M  $56M  

4  $56M  $38M  

5  $38M  $21M  

6  $21M  $15M  

7  $15M  $6M  

8  $6M  $0  

 

78. The Tribunal has considered the most appropriate approach to be applied to the Adelaide City 

Council given its relatively high total operating income, its relatively low population base, and 

the extent to which there are over 400,000 daily users of council facilities and services, most 

of which involve non-residents. The Adelaide City Council has a vastly different constituent 

base consisting of predominantly corporate enterprises. It also has a strong commercial focus, 

owns, and manages two significant subsidiary operations (the Adelaide Central Market 

Authority and the Adelaide Economic Development Authority), together with the 

Kadaltilla/Adelaide Park Lands Authority. 

79. While the option of a market-based assessment for the Adelaide City Council, drawing on data 

from similarly sized organisations across Australia was considered, this approach was 

ultimately rejected because it did not properly consider local government specific 

characteristics. Comparisons with other capital city CEOs was also not preferred because of 

the diversity of the other state approaches. 

80. Ultimately, the Tribunal determined to create an additional band for the Adelaide City Council, 

using the same methodology that was applied to other Councils. This approach most 

accurately reflects the recruitment patterns for the Adelaide City Council over the past 15 years. 

It means that, while there are 9 bands of Councils, the highest band is applicable only to the 

Adelaide City Council. None of the modifying criteria considered below have application to the 

Adelaide City Council. 

81. The Tribunal has selected four other criteria which are factors most likely to require further 

differentiation between Councils which was not captured by total operating income 

considerations. 

82. These are: 

a. Projected population growth which impacts on a Council’s planning and service 

delivery requirements and hence the demands and expectations of a CEO. This 

was determined to be the most significant modifying factor. 

b. Population dispersion which is a measure of the estimated average distance 

between each person in a Council area and the population centre for that region. 

This is a measure of relevance to regional Councils as it represents additional 

Page 32



 

Page 19 of 25 

service delivery and complexity demands on the CEO. The Tribunal has relied on 

data from 2021 to 2031 provided by the SA Department for Trade and Investment. 

c. Distance from Adelaide measured from the primary Council location. This reflects 

isolation, attraction, and retention issues, together with the challenges associated 

with functioning in more remote locations with substantially increased distances. 

d. Socio-economic advantage/disadvantage. This has been assessed using the 

Australian Bureau of Statistics Socio-Economic Index for Areas and takes account 

of differences in the complexities of Councils with differing levels of socio-

economic advantage or disadvantage. The greater the degree of comparative 

disadvantage, the greater the complexity of the CEO role. 

83. The Tribunal defined measures of each of these modifying criteria and attached a score of 

between 1 and 3, depending on the characteristics of the Council. These scores were then 

weighted, depending on the Tribunal’s assessment of the significance of the modifying criteria. 

84. This approach is summarised in the following Table prepared by Mercer. 

Level of 
Complexity 

Score Projected 
population 
Growth 

Population 
Dispersion 

Distance from 
Adelaide 

Socio-
economic 
Status (SEIFA) 

Low 
Complexity  

1  Less than 0.56% 
per annum  

Less than 
8.45km  

Less than 
187.1km  

Greater than or 
equal to decile 7  

Medium 
Complexity  

2  From 0.56% up to 
0.89% per annum  

From 8.45km 
up to 17.3km  

From 187.1km 
up to 382km  

Between decile 
6 and 4  

High 
Complexity  

3  Greater than or 
equal to 0.89% 
per annum  

Greater than 
or equal to 
17.3km  

Greater than 
or equal to 
382km  

Less than or 
equal to decile 3  

Weighting  60% 10% 10% 20% 

 

85. Except for the SEIFA score, the Tribunal applied a low complexity or score of 1 to Councils 

with less than the 50th percentile for that category. A medium level complexity or score of 2 

was allocated to Councils between the 50th percentile and the 75th percentile and a high 

complexity rating or score of 3 was applied to Councils in the upper 25th percentile. The reverse 

approach was applied with respect to the SEIFA Index. These percentiles are based on the 

actual distribution of data across the Councils. 

86. The weighted average was then utilised to determine if a Council could increase levels by one 

category from its initial placement using total operating income. This was done by using a cut-

off point of a weighted average greater than 2.2, which recognises a prudent buffer above the 

weighted average medium complexity score of 2, as shown in paragraph 84. This is consistent 

with the approach adopted by the Tribunal in setting the highest level of complexity for each of 

the modifying criterion at the 75th percentile. 

87. A table showing the application of these modifying criteria is shown below. 

Council Projected 
Population 
Growth 

Population 
Dispersion 

Distance from 
Adelaide 

Socio-
Economic 
Status 

Onkaparinga  2  1  1  2  

Charles Sturt  3  1  1  1  

Salisbury  2  1  1  3  

Port Adelaide Enfield  3  1  1  2  

Page 33



 

Page 20 of 25 

Playford  3  1  1  3  

Marion  2  1  1  1  

Tea Tree Gully  2  1  1  1  

Holdfast Bay  1  1  1  1  

West Torrens  2  1  1  1  

Mitcham  1  1  1  1  

Mount Barker  3  1  1  1 

Campbelltown  3  1  1  1  

Alexandrina  3  2  1  2  

Unley  2  1  1  1  

Burnside  2  1  1  1  

Adelaide Hills  2  2  1  1  

Norwood Payneham 
& St Peters  

3  1  1  1  

Murray Bridge  3  1  1  3  

Barossa  3  2  1  1  

Mount Gambier  2  1  3  3  

Yorke Peninsula  2  3  2  2  

Copper Coast  3  1  1  3  

Whyalla  1  1  3  3  

Gawler  3  1  1  2  

Port Augusta  1  1  2  3  

Victor Harbor  3  1  1  2  

Wattle Range  1  3  3  3  

Port Pirie  1  1  2  3  

Mid Murray  2  3  1  3  

Light  3  2  1  1  

Prospect  2  1  1  1  

Loxton Waikerie  1  3  2  2  

Port Lincoln  2  1  3  3  

Berri Barmera  1  1  2  3  

Renmark Paringa  1  1  2  3  

Kangaroo Island  3  3  2  1  

Naracoorte Lucindale  1  2  2  2  

Tatiara  1  3  2  2  

Clare and Gilbert 
Valleys  

1  2  1  1  

Coorong  1  3  1  3  

Wakefield  1  3  1  3  

Grant  2  2  3  1  

Coober Pedy  1  1  3  3  

Lower Eyre 
Peninsula  

1  3  3  1  

Adelaide Plains  3  2  1  2  

Yankalilla  3  1  1  2  

Northern Areas  1  2  2  2  

Goyder  1  3  1  3  

Streaky Bay  1  3  3  1  

Ceduna  1  2  3  3  

Walkerville  2  1  1  1  

Franklin Harbour  1  1  3  2  

Mount Remarkable  1  3  2  2  

Southern Mallee  1  3  2  1  

Kingston  1  2  2  2  

Page 34



 

Page 21 of 25 

Robe  1  1  2  1  

Barunga West  1  2  1  3  

Tumby Bay  2  2  3  1  

Cleve  2  2  3  2  

Wudinna  1  2  3  1  

Kimba 1 2 3 1 

Flinders Ranges 1 3 2 3 

Peterborough 1 1 2 3 

Elliston 1 3 3 2 

Karoonda East 
Murray 

1 3 1 2 

Orroroo Carrieton 1 2 2 1 

 

88. The adoption of this approach resulted in 11 Councils being moved up into the next highest 

band. 

89. A Table showing the final Council grouping after the modifying criteria were applied is shown 

below. 

 
Council  Initial Band 

based on Total 
operating 
income   

Weighted Average 
Modifying 
Categories  

Adjusted Band 

Onkaparinga  1  1.8  1  

Charles Sturt  1  2.2  1  

Salisbury  1  2.0  1  

Port Adelaide Enfield  1  2.4  1  

Playford  2  2.6  1  

Marion  2  1.6  2  

Tea Tree Gully  2  1.6  2  

Holdfast Bay  2  1.0  2  

West Torrens  3  1.6  3  

Mitcham  3  1.0  3  

Mount Barker  3  2.2  3  

Campbelltown  3  2.2  3  

Alexandrina  3  2.5  2  

Unley  3  1.6  3  

Burnside  4  1.6  4  

Adelaide Hills  4  1.7  4  

Norwood Payneham & St Peters  4  2.2  4  

Murray Bridge  4  2.6  3  

Barossa  4  2.3  3  

Mount Gambier  4  2.2  4  

Yorke Peninsula  4  2.1  4  

Copper Coast  4  2.6  3  

Whyalla  4  1.6  4  

Gawler  5  2.4  4  

Port Augusta  5  1.5  5  

Victor Harbor  5  2.4  4  

Wattle Range  5  1.8  5  

Port Pirie  5  1.5  5  

Mid Murray  5  2.2  5  

Page 35



 

Page 22 of 25 

Light  5  2.3  4  

Prospect  5  1.6  5  

Loxton Waikerie  5  1.5  5  

Port Lincoln  5  2.2  5  

Berri Barmera  5  1.5  5  

Renmark Paringa  5  1.5  5  

Kangaroo Island  5  2.5  4  

Naracoorte Lucindale  5  1.4  5  

Tatiara  6  1.5  6  

Clare and Gilbert Valleys  6  1.1  6  

Coorong  6  1.6  6  

Wakefield  6  1.6  6  

Grant  6  1.9  6  

Coober Pedy  6  1.6  6  

Lower Eyre Peninsula  6  1.4  6  

Adelaide Plains  6  2.5  5  

Yankalilla  6  2.4  5  

Northern Areas  7  1.4  7  

Goyder  7  1.6  7  

Streaky Bay  7  1.4  7  

Ceduna  7  1.7  7  

Walkerville  7  1.6  7  

Franklin Harbour  7  1.4  7  

Mount Remarkable  7  1.5  7  

Southern Mallee  7  1.3  7  

Kingston  7  1.4  7  

Robe  7  1.1  7  

Barunga West  7  1.5  7  

Tumby Bay  7  1.9  7  

Cleve  7  2.1  7  

Wudinna  7  1.3  7  

Kimba  7  1.3  7  

Flinders Ranges  7  1.7  7  

Peterborough  7  1.5  7  

Elliston  7  1.6  7  

Karoonda East Murray  8  1.4  8  

Orroroo Carrieton  8  1.2  8  

Remuneration Ranges 

90. Having developed a model for the grouping of Councils, the Tribunal has applied the 2022/23 

CEO remuneration levels to this structure with a further increase factored in for the period from 

the July 2024 Interim Report and Determination. 

91. A $190,000 minimum remuneration amount has been adopted as the minimum remuneration 

amount. This is less than the current minimum CEO remuneration level and hence gives 

Councils in that lower range enhanced capacity to apply a lower starting salary to a new, 

inexperienced CEO.  

92. The Tribunal has then applied an increase to this minimum to arrive at the mid-point for the 

lowest band 8. That mid-point then becomes the minimum remuneration level for band 7. This 

pattern has been repeated for each band. The eight bands determined the range size based 

around a midpoint assessment for each band. Therefore, the bandwidth increases as the 

remuneration amounts increase. 

Page 36



 

Page 23 of 25 

93. This reflected the extent to which the Council CEO market is essentially an internal South 

Australian market. The operation of the model has identified those Councils that are, on the 

model criteria, out of step with comparable Council CEOs. The Tribunal has assessed the 

maximum remuneration payable on the basis of overall remuneration trends within the South 

Australian Local Government sector.   

94. The Tribunal has established overlapping remuneration ranges. These provide Councils with 

increased flexibility in establishing remuneration levels, particularly when recruiting 

inexperienced CEOs. 

95. Whilst it has some reservations, the Tribunal has also increased the remuneration bandwidth 

for each band. This is intended to provide added flexibility to attract and retain CEOs and to 

recognise performance in the role.  

96. The Tribunal reviewed its decision that, without considering Adelaide City Council, eight bands 

was a sustainable grouping of Councils. It considered a lessor number of bands, but this 

created such a broad bandwidth that the value of the banding to elected members and Council 

ratepayers would be substantially reduced and hence run counter to the established objectives. 

An increased number of bands was also considered but this created a system which required 

substantially more maintenance and more frequent reviews, which again ran counter to the 

sustainability objective. 

97. The remuneration minimum and maximum for the Adelaide City Council has been established 

using the same methodology as outlined earlier in this section. 

98. The allocation of Councils to the bands is shown in the Table below.  

 
Band Number of 

Councils 
Minimum Maximum Bandwidth 

Adelaide City 
Council 

1  $386,710  $458,557  $68,847  

1  5  $353,839  $419,580  $65,741  

2  4  $323,763  $383,916  $60,153  

3  8  $296,243  $351,283  $55,040  

4  10 $271,062  $321,424  $50,362  

5  12  $248,022  $294,103  $46,081  

6  8 $226,940  $269,104  $42,164  

7  18  $207,650  $246,230  $38,580  

8  2  $190,000  $225,301  $35,301  

99. The Tribunal’s interim 2024 Report and Determination applied a 2% increase to the maximum 

remuneration levels. For the purpose of this assessment, the Tribunal applied a further 

increase, since that interim 2024 decision. This approach appears broadly consistent with 

enterprise agreement based wage increases in the Local Government sector. It does not 

consider any significant CEO remuneration adjustments that may have occurred since 

2022/23. Again, this forms part of the Tribunal’s decision to issue a draft Determination.  

100. The Tribunal has noted that, based on the 2022/23 remuneration data there are a small 

number of Councils that are likely to be significantly above or below the proposed minimums 

and maximums.  

101. The Tribunal’s assessment of increases since 2023 indicates that 62% of Councils are 

remunerating their CEOs at levels consistent with these bands. A small percentage of Councils 

appear likely to be more than $5000 above or below a band. More accurate estimates will 

Page 37



 

Page 24 of 25 

require that Councils review CEO remuneration components against the definitions set out by 

the Tribunal and that they confirm actual FBT obligations. 

Phased in Compliance  

102. Nevertheless, the Tribunal is acutely conscious that significant deviations from its minimum 

or maximum remuneration levels have the capacity to adversely impact Councils in terms of 

potential cost imposts or the loss of key staff. To this end, the Tribunal proposes to provide 

Councils with the capacity to phase in compliance with the relevant minimum or maximum 

remuneration over the next year. Where achievement of compliance involves increases, or 

reductions, that are greater than $5,000 per annum, compliance should be achieved over a 

two year period. 

Frequency of Reviews 

103. The Tribunal proposes that the remuneration amounts incorporated in the proposed 

framework will be reviewed annually. While it recognises that the normal Local Government 

enterprise agreement approach is to link wage movements with consumer price movements, 

the Tribunal has declined to establish an automatic linkage of that nature. There are many 

organisations and occupations where CEO remuneration is not automatically tied to inflation 

and, particularly relative to Local Government, which is substantially funded by ratepayers, an 

absolute guarantee of inflation matching wage increases is not considered appropriate. 

104. Independently of the remuneration amounts, the Tribunal has adopted the position that the 

bandings will be reviewed every two years, against each of the relevant criteria incorporated in 

the framework. These reviews will also provide an opportunity to review the remuneration 

framework. 

Opportunity to Comment 

105. The Tribunal has determined to provide a draft Determination consistent with this Report to 

give Councils and CEOs an opportunity to identify issues they consider may not have been 

adequately considered in the development of this remuneration framework. 

106. Most Councils, Mayors and CEOs who have put views to the Tribunal, have asserted that 

their Council is unique or different. The Tribunal has adopted an approach which seeks to 

recognise this diversity, while meeting the specified objectives. Whilst the Tribunal has not 

limited the range of factors about which comments may be made, comments about the nature 

of the remuneration framework, or about potential implementation issues are particularly 

invited.  

107. The Tribunal notes it arrived at a separate assessment for the District Council of Coober 

Pedy in September 2024 because of its unique circumstances (see Determination 4 of 2024). 

The application of the approach in the framework adopted in this Report results in a different 

maximum amount applicable to Coober Pedy. The Tribunal notes that the District Council of 

Coober Pedy, as the most remote Council and most differentiating Council, may wish to provide 

advice to the Tribunal about this approach.  

108. Any responses to this invitation should be provided to the Tribunal by 12 March 2025. The 

Tribunal does not currently intend to provide extensions of time. A binding Determination will 

be issued soon after this date. The Tribunal expects that this final Determination will take effect 

from 1 January 2025, consistent with the advice it has already provided to Councils. 

Page 38



 

Page 25 of 25 

109. The adoption of this approach does not prohibit a Council from seeking an individual review 

of its banding. Councils with demonstrable concerns about the effect of their band allocation 

will be expected to provide information that establishes the basis for their position relative to 

other Councils. Requests of this nature should also identify the impact of the currently specified 

minimum and maximum amounts, in the context of the model that the Tribunal has outlined in 

this Report, rather than simply referring to traditional comparisons with other Councils. 

Next Steps for Councils 

110. The Tribunal does not have the jurisdiction nor desire to provide tax advice to Councils, 

relating to FBT, but notes different approaches to these issues and recommends that individual 

Councils review those approaches.  

111. The Tribunal strongly urges elected members of Councils to seek from their staff a complete 

explanation of their current CEO remuneration against the component elements of the total 

remuneration which is explained in this Report and the draft Determination. Without such an 

understanding, there is a substantial risk that this Report could be misunderstood and 

misapplied because the component parts of a CEO’s remuneration under the terms of a 

contract or even traditional reporting structure may differ from the approach adopted by the 

Tribunal. Further, the Tribunal’s discussions with Mayors disclosed continuing potential for a 

misunderstanding of the legislative function of minimum and maximum remuneration levels.  

112. As only a third of the Councils provided the Tribunal with position descriptions for their 

CEOs, Councils are urged to ensure that these descriptions exist and are in a form which 

facilitates the accurate assessment of performance. To the extent that some Councils may not 

be able to reach a consensus on CEO performance expectations, this is also essential. 

113. Any objections to the draft Determination should include the current CEO remuneration 

components and movements since 2022/23 in accordance with the remuneration definitions 

set out in paragraph 68.   

114. It is the responsibility of each Council to set CEO remuneration within the specified 

minimums and maximums.  

115. The Tribunal anticipates that Councils will also consider the implications of remuneration 

adjustments for their CEOs, on the senior staff who report to their CEOs. 

116. As the Tribunal has already noted, section 147(5) of the Statutes Amendment (Local 

Government Review) Act 2021, may impact on the requirement to comply with the specified 

minimum and maximum remuneration levels. Again, as the Tribunal has noted, that is a matter 

for those Councils to consider.  

  

   

Page 39



 

 

OFFICIAL: Sensitive 

OFFICIAL: Sensitive  

 

REMUNERATION TRIBUNAL 

Please address 

all correspondence to  

remunerationtribunal@sa.gov.au 

GPO BOX 1045 

ADELAIDE  SA  5001 

(08) 8429 4141 

www.remtribunal.sa.gov.au 

 

20 January 2025 
 
Local Government Councils of South Australia 
Distributed via email 
 
 
Dear Councils  
 
REMUNERATION TRIBUNAL – DRAFT REPORT AND DETERMINATION FOR 2024 
REVIEW OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CEO MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM REMUNERATION 

 
On 18 December 2024, the Remuneration Tribunal (Tribunal) advised that it would provide a 
draft report and determination in relation to its 2024 review of Local Government Chief Executive 
Officers (CEO) minimum and maximum remuneration amounts, to allow feedback to be 
provided before it is formally issued.  
 
Enclosed is a copy of the draft report and determination.  
 
The Tribunal invites written submissions on the draft report and determination by no later than 
5.00pm (ACDT) 12 March 2025. The Tribunal does not intend to provide extensions of time. 
Written submissions can be sent via email to remunerationtribunal@sa.gov.au A binding 
determination will be issued soon after, which is intended to take effect from 1 January 2025.  
 
The Tribunal notes that the draft report is extensive and therefore provides the following high-
level summary:  
 

• Tribunal Objectives: the Tribunal has adopted an approach whereby it seeks to achieve 
the following broad objectives:  
 

1. Minimum and maximum remuneration amounts need to reflect the complexity of 

roles and responsibilities necessary to allow Councils to recruit and retain 

appropriately skilled and qualified CEOs. 

2. Remuneration minimums and maximums must provide a significant degree of 

assurance to council ratepayers, that their CEO is being remunerated 

accordingly. 

3. The minimum and maximum remuneration amounts need to provide an 

appropriate degree of guidance to elected members to assist them in setting and 

reviewing CEO remuneration. 

4. Any system of setting minimum and maximum remuneration must be capable of 

simple and low cost revision to facilitate regular review. 

• Remuneration framework / Council characteristics: the Tribunal engaged Mercer to 
assist with consideration of Council characteristics. The Tribunal has adopted the 
position that the single most significant characteristic to be assessed is total operating 
income. Following this, the Tribunal has selected four other criteria which are factors 
taken into consideration when determining the appropriate bands, being projected 
population growth, population dispersion, distance from Adelaide and socio-economic 
advantage / disadvantage.  

Page 40

Attachment B

mailto:remunerationtribunal@sa.gov.au
http://www.remtribunal.sa.gov.au/
mailto:remunerationtribunal@sa.gov.au


 

 

OFFICIAL: Sensitive 

OFFICIAL: Sensitive  

 
 

• Remuneration Definitions: the Tribunal has adopted the following definitions of 
remuneration components for inclusion in the draft determination:  

 
Component  Definition  

Monetary remuneration  Base salary (cash component).  
 

Superannuation  Includes the statutory minimum employer contributions, any salary 
sacrifice component, and any additional payments made by a 
Council.  
 

Annual Leave Loading  As defined in the relevant employment contract. 
 

Additional Leave Entitlements  Dollar value of additional leave provided over and above statutory 
entitlement, except where this is provided to allow remotely based 
CEOs to travel to their hometown or capital city to commence / 
return from leave. 
 

Bonuses  Dollar value of any bonuses or performance incentives, whether 
received in cash or kind.  
 

Motor Vehicle  The value of the cash allowance or the private benefit value of the 
motor vehicle to the CEO using either the Prime Cost 
(depreciation), Operating Cost, or Statutory Formula in 
accordance with the ATO rules.  
 
Must include FBT payable by the CEO. 
  
Refer to: https://www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-
benefits-tax-car-calculator  
 

Housing Allowance  The dollar value of any housing allowance or rental subsidy and 
associated FBT. Consistent with the ATO remote area fringe 
benefit tax requirements. 
 
Note, designated remote areas are exempt from FBT – refer to:  
 
https://www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-
add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186 
  

Other Fees and Allowances  Includes, but not limited to, any or all of the following:  

• School or childcare fees, including school uniforms  

• Newspaper/magazine/online subscriptions  

• Value of perquisites provided to the CEO i.e.  
memberships  

• Personal travel or any other benefit taken in lieu of salary 
by the CEO (and immediate family at the discretion of the 
council)  

• Health insurance  

• Any and all other allowances  

• Any other form of payment - cash or otherwise  

• Any Fringe Benefits Tax paid by council in respect of any 
of the above  
 

Total Remuneration Package 
(TRP)  

The total of all the above components.  

 
For the avoidance of doubt, mobile telephones and portable computing equipment, 
fundamentally for work purposes, and professional development costs directly related to 
the performance of CEO duties and membership of professional associations are not 
included in the total remuneration package.  

Page 41

https://www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-benefits-tax-car-calculator
https://www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-benefits-tax-car-calculator
https://www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186
https://www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186


 

 

OFFICIAL: Sensitive 

OFFICIAL: Sensitive  

 
The Tribunal does not have the jurisdiction nor desire to provide tax advice to Councils, 
relating to FBT, but notes different approaches to these issues and recommends that 
individual Councils review those approaches.  

 

• Operative Date & Compliance: the Tribunal is proposing that the operative date of the 
determination be 1 January 2025. Despite the operative date, the Tribunal intends on 
adopting a phased in compliance approach, by providing Councils with 12 months to 
comply with the relevant band. Unless compliance involves increases, or reductions, of 
a CEOs total remuneration package, which is greater that $5,000 per annum, in which 
case compliance is to be achieved over a two year period.  

 

• Obtaining CEOs current total remuneration package amount: the Tribunal strongly 
urges elected members of Councils to seek from their staff a complete explanation of 
their current CEO remuneration against the component elements of the total 
remuneration which is explained in the draft report and determination. Without such an 
understanding, there is a substantial risk that the draft report could be misunderstood 
and misapplied because the component parts of a CEO’s remuneration under the terms 
of a contract or even traditional reporting structure may differ from the approach adopted 
by the Tribunal. 
 

• Frequency of Reviews: the Tribunal is proposing that the remuneration amounts of 
each band subsequently be reviewed annually. Whether a Council meets the criteria to 
be within a band, is proposed to be reviewed every two years.  

 

• Providing Comment: whilst the Tribunal has not limited the range of factors about which 
comments may be made, comments about the nature of the remuneration framework or 
about potential implementation issues are particularly invited. Written submissions must 
be sent to remunerationtribunal@sa.gov.au by no later than 5.00pm (ACDT) 12 March 
2025.  
 

Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Matthew O’Callaghan  
PRESIDENT  

 
 

Page 42

mailto:remunerationtribunal@sa.gov.au


 

Page 1 of 5 

 

No. X of 2024 

 

DRAFT DETERMINATION OF THE REMUNERATION TRIBUNAL 

Minimum and Maximum Chief Executive Officer Remuneration 

 

SCOPE OF DETERMINATION 

1. This Determination applies to Chief Executive Officers of Local Government Councils to 
whom section 99A of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) applies.  

2. For the reasons provided in the accompanying report, The Municipal Council of Roxby 
Downs is not covered by this Determination.   

3. This Determination is provided in draft form to enable consideration of it by Local 
Government Councils, CEOs, and any other interested parties with any submissions invited 
by close of business 12 March 2025. 

4. Subject to revisions that the Tribunal may make, it is anticipated that a Determination in final 
form will be issued later in March 2025. 

MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM REMUNERATION 

5. In accordance with section 99A of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (LG Act) the 
Remuneration Tribunal hereby determines the following rates of minimum and maximum 
remuneration for Chief Executive Officers of Local Government Councils in South Australia: 

 

Band 
 

Total Remuneration Package 

Adelaide City Council $386,710 - $458,557 
 

1 $353,839 - $419,580 
 

2 $323,763 - $383,916 
 

3 $296,243 - $351,283 
 

4 $271,062 - $321,424 
 

5 $248,022 - $294,103 
 

6 $226,940 - $269,104 
 
 

Page 43

Attachment C



 

Page 2 of 5 

 

7 $207,650 - $246,230 
 

8 $190,000 - $225,301 
 

 

6. Remuneration figures are expressed on a total remuneration package basis as is detailed 
below:  

 
Component  Definition  

Monetary remuneration  Base salary (cash component).  
 

Superannuation  Includes the statutory minimum employer contributions, any salary 
sacrifice component, and any additional payments made by a 
Council.  
 

Annual Leave Loading  As defined in the relevant employment contract. 
 

Additional Leave Entitlements  Dollar value of additional leave provided over and above statutory 
entitlement, except where this is provided to allow remotely based 
CEOs to travel to their hometown or capital city to commence / 
return from leave. 
 

Bonuses  Dollar value of any bonuses or performance incentives, whether 
received in cash or kind.  
 

Motor Vehicle  The value of the cash allowance or the private benefit value of the 
motor vehicle to the CEO using either the Prime Cost 
(depreciation), Operating Cost, or Statutory Formula in 
accordance with the ATO rules.  
 
Must include FBT payable by the CEO. 
  
Refer to: https://www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-
benefits-tax-car-calculator  
 

Housing Allowance  The dollar value of any housing allowance or rental subsidy and 
associated FBT. Consistent with the ATO remote area fringe 
benefit tax requirements. 
 
Note, designated remote areas are exempt from FBT – refer to:  
 
https://www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-
add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186 
  

Other Fees and Allowances  Includes, but not limited to, any or all of the following:  

• School or childcare fees, including school uniforms  

• Newspaper/magazine/online subscriptions  

• Value of perquisites provided to the CEO i.e.  
memberships  

• Personal travel or any other benefit taken in lieu of salary 
by the CEO (and immediate family at the discretion of the 
council)  

• Health insurance  

• Any and all other allowances  

• Any other form of payment - cash or otherwise  

• Any Fringe Benefits Tax paid by council in respect of any 
of the above  
 

Total Remuneration Package 
(TRP)  

The total of all the above components.  

Page 44

https://www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-benefits-tax-car-calculator
https://www.ato.gov.au/calculators-and-tools/fringe-benefits-tax-car-calculator
https://www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186
https://www.ato.gov.au/api/public/content/0-2f3d266d-5f78-4188-add6-f218387a0485?1730844950186


 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

7. For the avoidance of doubt, mobile telephones and portable computing equipment, 
fundamentally for work purposes, and professional development costs directly related to the 
performance of CEO duties and membership of professional associations are not included 
in the total remuneration package.  

8. A list of Council groupings is included at attachment 1.  

9. Any decision in relation to an annual increase for CEO remuneration within the bands set 
by the Tribunal remains a matter for each Council in accordance with section 99A(1) of the 
LG Act. 

10. Councils have until 1 January 2026 to comply with the minimum and maximum remuneration 
amounts. Where achievement of compliance involves increases, or reductions, that are 
greater than $5,000 per annum, compliance must be achieved by 1 January 2027.  

DATE OF OPERATION 

11. This Determination shall have operative effect on and from 1 January 2025.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 

Page 4 of 5 

 

ATTACHMENT 1  

Council  Band   

City of Onkaparinga  1  

City of Charles Sturt  1  

City of Salisbury  1  

City of Port Adelaide Enfield  1  

City of Playford  1  

City of Marion  2  

City of Tea Tree Gully  2  

City of Holdfast Bay  2  

Alexandrina Council 2 

City of West Torrens  3  

City of Mitcham  3  

Mount Barker District Council   3  

City of Campbelltown  3  

The Rural City of Murray Bridge  3  

The Barossa Council   3  

City of Unley  3  

Copper Coast Council 3  

City of Burnside  4  

Adelaide Hills Council  4  

City of Norwood Payneham & St Peters  4  

City of Mount Gambier  4  

Yorke Peninsula Council 4  

City of Whyalla  4  

Town of Gawler  4  

City of Victor Harbor  4  

Light Regional Council  4  

Kangaroo Island Council 4  

Corporation of the City of Port Augusta  5  

Wattle Range Council  5  

Port Pirie Regional Council  5  

Mid Murray Council  5  

City of Prospect  5  

District Council of Loxton Waikerie  5  

City of Port Lincoln  5  

Berri Barmera Council 5  

Renmark Paringa Council  5  

Naracoorte Lucindale Council 5  

Adelaide Plains Council  5  

District Council of Yankalilla  5  

Tatiara District Council  6  

Clare and Gilbert Valleys Council  6  

Coorong District Council  6  

Wakefield Regional Council  6  

District Council of Grant  6  

District Council of Coober Pedy  6  

Lower Eyre Peninsula Council 6  

Northern Areas Council  7  

Regional Council of Goyder  7  

District Council of Streaky Bay  7  

District Council of Ceduna  7  

Corporation of the Town of Walkerville  7  

District Council of Franklin Harbour  7  

Page 46



 

Page 5 of 5 

 

District Council of Mount Remarkable  7  

Southern Mallee District Council  7  

Kingston District Council  7  

District Council of Robe  7  

Barunga West Council  7  

District Council of Tumby Bay  7  

District Council of Cleve  7  

Wudinna District Council  7  

District Council of Kimba  7  

The Flinders Ranges Council  7  

District Council of Peterborough  7  

District Council of Elliston  7  

District Council of Karoonda East Murray  8  

District Council of Orroroo Carrieton  8  

 

 

 

 

Page 47


	Agenda
	4.1 2025/25 Q2 KPI Progress Report
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	8.2.	KPI 8b – Progress and implement an organisational structure review by December 2024 to enable the organisation to deliver on the Strategic Plan 2024-2028 outcomes and priorities based on a shared understanding of accountability and improved capacity across the organisation, including establishing measures of success. (Link 5)
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment 1 for 2025/25 Q2 KPI Progress Report

	4.2 Remuneration Tribunal - update
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A Draft Report
	Attachment B - Letter to all Local Government Councils
	Attachment C - draft Determination


